Emma Fulu Lori Heise



# What works to prevent violence against women and girls evidence reviews

Paper 1:

State of the field of research on violence against women and girls



### Acronyms

ADHD Attention Deficit Disorder

ACE Adverse Childhood Experiences

CDC Centre for Disease Control and Prevention

CSA Child Sexual Abuse

DFID UK Department for International Development

FSWs Female Sex Workers

GBV Gender-based Violence

HICs High Income Countries

IPV Intimate Partner Violence

LMICs Low and Middle Income Countries

MSM Men who have Sex with Men

ODD Oppositional Defiant Disorder

RCT Randomized Control Trial

Sexually Transmitted Infection

VAW Violence Against Women

VAWG Violence Against Women and Girls

UNICEF UN Children's Fund

JN MCS UN Multi-country Study on Men and Violence in Asia and the

Pacific

WHO World Health Organization

WHO DV WHO Multi-country Study on Women's Health and Domestic

Violence against Women

### Contents

Acronyms	1
1. Introduction	4
1.1 Scope and goals of the review	5
1.2 Limitations of the review	6
1.3 Methodological challenges in researching violence against women and girls	6
2. Intimate Partner Violence	7
2.1 What do we know about intimate partner violence?	7
2.2 What risk factors influence intimate partner violence?	10
3. Non-partner sexual violence	17
3.1 What do we know about sexual violence against women by non-partners?	17
3.2 What risk factors influence sexual violence perpetrated by non-partners?	21
4. Child Abuse	25
4.1 What do we know about child abuse?	25
4.2 What risk factors influence child abuse?	28
5. What are the key gaps in our knowledge base?	31
Conclusions and recommendations	33
References	3/

### **Acknowledgements**

The authors would like to thank all members of the What Works Core Group who commented on the various drafts of this document: Rachel Jewkes, Alice Kerr-Wilson, Lyndsay Mclean-Hilker and Charlotte Watts. In particular, we would like to thank Rohini Pande, who was peer reviewer for the paper and provided invaluable comments to improve it.

We acknowledge that the What Works programme and all related papers are funded by DFID; however, the views expressed in the papers do not necessarily reflect DFID's official policies.

### 1. Introduction

Violence against women and girls (VAWG) is one of the most widespread violations of human rights worldwide, affecting on average, one-third of all women within their lifetime (Devries et al., 2013). It is also a profound public health problem, with well-documented impacts on women's sexual and reproductive health (Campbell, 2002; Ellsberg et al., 2008), their overall mental health (Devries et al., 2013), their risk of chronic disease (World Health Organization, 2013), and the health and wellbeing of their children (Ahmed et al., 2006; Asling-Monemi et al., 2003; Bair-Merritt et al., 2006; Hasselmann and Reichenheim, 2006; Jeejebhoy et al., 2013; Karamagi et al., 2007). VAWG is also a fundamental barrier to eradicating poverty and building peace. It impoverishes individual women, and their families, communities and countries. Even the most conservative estimates indicate national costs of VAWG to be billions of dollars (Day et al., 2005).

VAWG takes many different forms globally, and is most likely to be perpetrated by someone known to the victim, such as a family member or intimate partner (Ellsberg and Heise, 2005). Types of VAWG are distinguished according to the age, life stage, or context in which they occur, with some risks and consequences exacerbated by conditions of violence and insecurity (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). Understanding the different forms that VAWG can take is important for identifying the sociocultural norms and beliefs that perpetuate violence, and for the informed design of preventative programmes and policies (Ellsberg and Heise, 2005). The following table summarises the definitions of forms of VAWG addressed by existing studies and by this review.

Table 1. Definitions of forms of VAWG addressed by existing studies

Child abuse or maltreatment	Child abuse or maltreatment constitutes all forms of physical and/or emotional ill-treatment, sexual abuse, neglect or negligent treatment or commercial or other exploitation, resulting in actual or potential harm to the child's health, survival, development or dignity in the context of a relationship of responsibility, trust or power (WHO, 1999 b).	
Child sexual abuse	Contacts or interactions between a child and an older or more knowledgeable child or adult when the child is being used as an object of gratification for an older child's or adult's sexual needs. These contacts or interactions are carried out against the child using force, trickery, bribes, threats or pressure (UNICEF, 2001).	
Intimate partner violece	IPV refers to any behaviour in an intimate relationship that causes physical, sexual, or psychological harm, including aggression, sexual coercion, psychological abuse and controlling behaviour (WHO, 2005). An intimate partner or relationship is defined as a person with whom an individual has a close, personal relationship that may be characterized by emotional connectedness, regular contact or sexual behaviour, identification as a couple, and cohabitation. Intimate partners may include current or former spouses, boyfriends or girlfriends, dating partners, and ongoing sexual partners (Breiding et al., 2015).	
Sexual violence - partner or non-partner	participate in unwanted sexual relations (WHO 2004)	

Source: Table of forms of VAWG adapted from Solotaroff and Pande (2014).

This is the first in a series of four evidence review papers produced by What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls (hereafter referred to as What Works). What Works is a DFID-funded global programme that is investing an unprecedented £25 million over 5 years for the prevention of VAWG. It supports primary prevention efforts across Africa, Asia, and the Middle East, that seek to understand and address the underlying causes of violence, in order to stop it before it starts.

The papers were produced to assess the current state of research and the evidence base in order to inform the research agenda of the global programme. The focus of What Works is to advance the field of primary prevention in particular, however this is understood to be closely aligned with response efforts. The papers therefore focus on prevention, although response mechanisms are also considered, particularly in paper 3. The four individual papers are:

### Paper 1: State of the field of research on violence against women and girls.

**Paper 2:** Interventions to prevent violence against women and girls.

**Paper 3:** Response mechanisms to prevent violence against women and girls.

**Paper 4:** Approaches to scale-up and assessing cost-effectiveness of programmes to prevent violence against women and girls.

### 1.1 Scope and goals of the review:

VAWG is preventable. However, it is a highly complex issue and in order to address it effectively we need to understand it in all its complexity.

To develop and implement effective prevention and response interventions globally, researchers

and practitioners need to understand the scale, scope, and nature of the problem. In order to design context specific programmes and policies, we need to understand variations across countries and even within countries. We also need evidence on the experiences and perspectives of both victims and perpetrators. In addition, it is crucial to have knowledge about the circumstances, and the risk and protective factors that influence the occurrence of VAWG. The ecological model has been used to help illustrate these multiple risk and protective factors across individual, family, community, and societal levels. The model (to be explored below) highlights the complex interplay of factors across and between the levels, and can therefore indicate key points for prevention and intervention (World Health Organization, 2002; Heise, 1998). In particular, fully understanding the links between structural, political, economic, and social determinants, and their pathways to violence, is absolutely vital in advancing our prevention efforts.

This paper outlines our current knowledge base regarding the issue of VAWG and identifies where the evidence base needs to be expanded in order to inform more sophisticated interventions and make a real impact on the prevalence of VAWG globally. We highlight the implications of this knowledge for prevention interventions and hope this information can be used to drive current policies and programmes as well as future research endeavours.

This first paper in the series focuses on intimate partner violence (IPV), non-partner sexual violence, and child abuse, as the most common forms of VAWG globally, and the focus of the What Works programme.

The paper aims to:

 Summarize the existing literature on the scale, scope, and nature of IPV, nonpartner sexual violence and child abuse;

- Summarize the existing literature on the links between structural, economic, political, community, relationship, and individual factors and the prevalence of partner violence, non-partner rape, and child abuse:
- Identify the gaps in understanding the factors that influence the prevalence of VAWG:
- Discuss the implications for primary prevention interventions; and
- Outline the suggested research agenda needed to advance the field of violence prevention.

This paper represents a summary of the evidence from qualitative and quantitative (cross-sectional and longitudinal) research on VAWG published in peer-reviewed journals and organisational reports in the last twenty years, with a focus on the most recent literature. The paper presents what we see as the state of the field of research, and draws in particular from: DFID's 'What works to prevent partner violence: An evidence overview' (Heise, 2012): the World Health Organization's (WHO) and London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine's (2010) 'Preventing intimate partner and sexual violence against women'; findings from the UN Multi-country Study on Men and Violence in Asia and the Pacific (hereafter, known as the UN MCS) (Fulu, Jewkes et al., 2013; Fulu, Warner et al., 2013: Jewkes et al., 2013); and the South African MRC's 'Rape Perpetration: A review' (Jewkes, 2012).

#### 1.2 Limitations of the review

This paper has a number of limitations. First, this paper is not a systematic review and cannot be considered as such. Secondly, the review was limited to access to published reports and articles and does not include a thorough review of grey literature. The review tends to focus more on quantitative research, although qualitative research is considered important

and needs further attention in future research.

Finally, it is noted that men and boys are also subjected to violence throughout their lifetime. Their experiences, while in some ways similar to those of women and girls, are distinct and are the product of specific individual, family, community, societal, and global risk factors (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). This is a growing field of research and policy that focuses on the construction of masculinities in diverse settings, and the ways in which masculinities are expressed and maintained through violence (Pawlak and Barker, 2012). While violence against men and boys is a critical issue, it is not the subject of this paper and merits a paper of its own.

# 1.3 Methodological challenges in researching violence against women and girls

Conducting research into VAWG is a complex and challenging investigation into often sensitive and private domains. A number of methodological challenges arise in carrying out such research and these challenges create substantive barriers in filling the gaps in the current global knowledge base on VAWG (Ellsberg and Heise, 2005). Studies of violence attempt to capture the multiple levels of analysis at which violence may be examined individual, familial, community, societal, global - and the diverse experiences of women and men within each of these spheres (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). While a greater amount of data exists for certain countries and for certain forms of violence, this is not an indication that violence is greater in those countries of that those forms of violence are the most prevalent. but rather reflects the focus and accessibility of existing studies (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). Moreover, many existing studies on violence are cross-sectional and demonstrate an association between risk factors and VAWG, but do not

provide strong analysis of unequivocal causal links (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). Variations in reported rates, therefore, may represent differences in methodological approaches and priorities, as well as actual differences in levels of violence.

Historically, it has been difficult to compare estimated prevalence rates across both countries and studies. One reason has been the multiple and varied ways in which violence is defined, measured, and reported by both researchers and respondents across studies (Bott, Morrison and Ellsberg 2005; Ellsberg et al. 2001; Ellsberg and Heise 2005; Solotaroff and Pande 2014). Reported rates of violence are strongly affected by: the expansiveness of the definitions of violence used; the types of questions asked during surveys and interviews (general versus behaviourspecific); the age range and other available demographic data of individuals included in a given study; sociocultural beliefs and norms affecting disclosure of sensitive information; and the specific research methods used by a study (for example anonymous survey versus telephone or face-to-face survey) (Ellsberg and Heise, 2005). Researchers must also be aware of the potential for increased risk of violence that participation in studies can generate for women - a point which underpins the WHO's guidelines, 'Putting Women First', for safe and ethical research into VAWG (WHO, 1999a).

This issue has been substantially addressed by the widespread use of the gold-standard WHO Multi-country Study on Women's Health and Domestic Violence against Women (hereafter, known as the WHO DV Study) (Garcia-Moreno et al., 2005). However, the standardisation of research methods has applied primarily to the measure of IPV, and the measures of non-partner violence and child abuse remain varied and often difficult to compare.

These methodological challenges suggest the

need for caution in undertaking comparative research and drawing conclusions from cross-sectional studies. This is particularly true where such evidence is used to inform programme and policy design, implementation, and evaluation.

### 2. Intimate partner violence

### 2.1 What do we know about intimate partner violence?

Intimate partner violence is a significant social problem worldwide, but the level of violence varies greatly between settings.

Partner violence is the most common form of violence against women (VAW) globally (Heise, 2012). A recent systematic review of data available worldwide estimates that 30 percent of women over the age of 15 have experienced physical or sexual violence by an intimate partner at least once in their lifetime (Devries et al., 2013). This estimate is based on data from 155 studies that span 81 countries and cover all regions of the world (World Health Organization, 2013).

This summary estimate, however, obscures dramatic differences in levels of violence across settings. Data on men's perpetration from the Asia-Pacific region shows a dramatic range: between 26 percent (Indonesia rural site) and 80 percent (Bougainville, PNG) of ever-partnered men aged 18-49 reported perpetrating physical and/or sexual violence against an intimate partner in their lifetime (Fulu et al., 2013).

Reports from women demonstrate equally large differences, with especially dramatic variation in the proportion of women experiencing current partner violence (defined as physical or sexual violence by a partner within the last 12 months) across settings. For example, the WHO DV Study found that reports of current abuse by a partner

varied from less than 4 percent in Yokohama, Japan and Belgrade, Serbia to 53.7 percent in rural Ethiopia, and 34.2 percent in the Cuzco, Peru. Reported rates of current partner violence in high-income countries average around 4 percent in the US, Great Britain and Ireland, when using roughly similar methodologies -compared to one-third to half of all women in some lower income countries (Black et al., 2011; Walby and Allen, 2004; Watson and Parsons, 2005)

In non-Western countries, the proportion of women who report experiencing partner violence in the last 12 months is generally at least half the proportion reporting lifetime partner violence. For example, of the 53 percent of women in Dhaka Bangladesh, who report having ever experienced physical or sexual violence by a partner, more than half of these (30 percent) report experiencing violence within the past 12 months. By contrast, in settings like Australia, Canada, Ireland, and the US, the rates of lifetime violence versus on-going violence are vastly different, with a far larger percentage of women reporting violence by a partner over their life course, than those reporting current abuse (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2012; Black et al., 2011; Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics, 2013; Watson and Parsons, 2005). This suggests that, on average, women in high-income countries are better able to leave relationships that turn violent than are similarly positioned women in countries where social stigma and a lack of economic alternatives for women make leaving less viable.

Interestingly, the differences in level of partner violence observed between countries can also be seen within the countries themselves, with vastly different rates of violence reported by women living in different regions, different villages and cities, and even in different neighbourhoods within a city. This unequal 'geography' of violence suggests that various

factors combine to establish the level of partner violence present in any one setting.

If levels of partner violence vary by up to 50 percent between villages or neighbourhoods, it raises the prospect that we can reproduce the set of factors that reduces violence while working to change the social, economic, and cultural factors that potentiate risk.

## Most partner violence in low income countries is perpetrated by men against women.

In low-income and middle-income countries, the majority of IPV is perpetrated by men against women. In higher income countries, a greater proportion of violence appears to be mutual (perpetrated by both partners), although the health and social consequences of violence remain more severe for women than for men.

The issue of whether partner violence is primarily a phenomenon of male VAW or a question of mutual violence has been a subject of long-standing debate in the North American academic literature. A systematic review of population-based surveys in high-income countries and from a global survey of college students has suggested that women are as likely as men to physically assault a partner (Archer, 2000). This finding has been used to call into question the feminist analysis of partner violence as a highly gendered phenomenon (Dutton, 2010).

A growing body of evidence suggests that in high-income settings, women are indeed becoming more physically aggressive, as women's status improves and social norms against female violence are challenged (Archer, 2006). This has led to an increase in relationships where both men and women use physical aggression, although the health and social consequences of violence remain

more severe for women than for men (Black et al., 2011; Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics, 2013; Watson and Parsons, 2005; Walby and Allen, 2004a). Women are also the victims of the most severe types of physical violence and the majority of incidents reported to the police.

Some observers have argued that the more moderate physical violence picked up in population-based surveys is a fundamentally different phenomenon from the more severe. highly controlling violence that lands women at local refuges and in hospital emergency rooms. United States researcher Michael Johnson coined the terms 'situational couple violence' versus 'intimate terrorism' to describe what he argues are two sub-types of violence. with mutual violence falling in the former camp. Johnson used data from small-scale studies in the US to argue that 'intimate terrorism' is almost exclusively perpetrated by men against women (Johnson, 2005; Kelly and Johnson, 2008).

Several research groups have attempted to test Johnson's hypothesis, generally finding mixed support for his thesis (Frye et al., 2006; Graham-Kevan and Archer, 2008). The possibility that there are various types of IPV, each with different risk factors, manifestations, and gender dynamics, is a compelling thesis and one worthy of further investigation. Nonetheless, population-based research indicates that in some high-income and middle-income settings, the level of physical aggression by women is relatively high and not entirely motivated by self-defence.

At the same time, efforts to extend the 'gender symmetry' analysis to low-income settings are largely misplaced. Throughout large swathes of the developing world, studies have shown that the dominant problem is clearly one of violence perpetrated by men against women and girls. Not only is the behaviour common and socially condoned, it is embedded in a

matrix of gender inequality in terms of access to resources and deep-seated norms that grant men authority over female behaviour. In the 15 sites of the WHO DV Study, for example, less than a quarter of women (with the exception of Yokohama in Japan and Bangkok in Thailand) report ever having hit their partner when he was not already hitting them, with the majority reporting offensive violence once or twice ever. The evidence suggests that women are more likely to aggress against their male partners in settings where women have gained more independence and wife-beating is less socially acceptable, as found in studies of IPV in North America and Europe (Archer, 2006; Heise, 2012). For these reasons, the What Works program and the reports produced therein focus on the male practice of VAWG.

Universally, types of violence (sexual, physical, emotional and economic) overlap in relationships, although the pattern of violence varies among countries.

Analysis of household survey data from the WHO DV survey and other national violence studies (including Indonesia, Nicaragua, Vietnam and Turkey) all demonstrate that the various types of partner violence generally overlap in relationships (Directorate General of the Status of Women, 2010; Ellsberg, et al. 1999; Hakimi et al., 2002; Vung, Ostergren and Krantz, 2008). The vast majority of women who experience physical or sexual partner violence also experience emotional abuse; likewise those who experience sexual violence most often experience physical violence as well. As the authors of a recent survey replicating the WHO study in Turkey observe, "Sexual partner violence rarely occurs alone. When a woman experiences sexual violence, she usually also experiences physical violence" (Directorate General of the Status of Women, 2010).

However, based on studies using the WHO DV methodology, the pattern of violence seen in

Indonesia, Thailand and Cambodia appears to be an exception to this rule. Here, sexual violence constitutes a greater proportion of partner violence than physical violence and it often occurs without physical abuse (Fulu, Jewkes et al., 2013; Garcia-Moreno et al., 2006; Hayati et al., 2011). Qualitative and ethnographic accounts suggest that, in these settings, notions of masculinity are more tightly linked to heterosexual performance and sexual entitlement (Hayati et al., 2011; GADC, 2010).

# No single factor causes partner violence, nor is there a single pathway to perpetration.

The reigning paradigm for understanding partner violence is the socio-ecological model, which posits that violence emerges from the interplay of multiple interacting factors at different levels of the social 'ecology' (Heise, 1998; Krug, Dahlberg et al., 2002; Soloratoff and Pande, 2014). This includes: genetic endowment, developmental history, personality profile, and current behaviours of the partners who enter a relationship; the specific dynamics of that relationship, including levels of conflict, communication style, and power dynamics; the household and community structures in which that relationship is embedded; and the macro-level and global-level forces that shape prevailing norms, access to resources, and the relative standing of men versus women.

Significantly, this conceptualisation of violence means that different combinations of factors interact to increase the likelihood of either perpetrating violence or being a victim. Likewise, there are multiple different pathways that can result in physical or sexual partner violence. While individual factors may be the most proximate explanation for differences in risk, individual attitudes and behaviors are influenced by community structures and social environments, and by distal factors such as gender inequalities embedded in legal systems

(Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). This is important when considering how change happens, as these distal factors can both shape and be shaped by individual beliefs. Ground-level shifts in individual beliefs can also reach a 'tipping point', at which social norms surrounding violence are transformed, ultimately leading to changes in distal factors, such as laws (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014).

To date, violence researchers have spent too little effort elucidating these different pathways. The next generation of research must further explore this relationship between distal factors and individual beliefs and behaviours in specific settings. The focus should be on how more distal, upstream factors (such as gender inequitable property regimes) work through community and normative structures to influence relationship dynamics, and individual attitudes, beliefs, behaviours and stressors.

### 2.2 What risk factors influence intimate partner violence?

Some factors appear consistently potent in their power to elevate risk of partner violence in low-income and middle-income settings. These include: exposure to violence in childhood; presence of community norms that support wife abuse; binge drinking; and harmful notions of masculinity and rigid gender roles.

#### Individual factors

#### Violence in childhood

Studies from a wide range of industrial and developing country settings have found that children who witness violence between their parents or who are physically abused themselves are more likely to use violence in their relationships as adults (Abrahams and Jewkes, 2005; Ellsberg et al., 1999; Flake, 2005; Gage, 2005; Jewkes et al., 2002; Kishor and Johnson, 2005; Martin et al., 2002; Solotoraff

and Pande, 2014; Urbina, 2005). Solotaroff and Pande (2014) found the association between childhood exposure to IPV and a higher risk of marital violence in adulthood to hold in their study of VAWG in South Asia. In India and Bangladesh, studies have found an increased risk of spousal violence for women who witnessed their mothers being abused, or women who were harshly abused themselves during childhood (International Centre for Research on Women, 2000; Jeyaseelan, Kumar, Neelakantan, Peedicayil, Pillar and Duvvury, 2007). This association persists in wellcontrolled multivariate studies and has been consistent in settings as diverse as Nicaragua, the US and Vietnam (Ellsberg et al., 1999; Vung et al., 2008; Whitfield et al., 2003).

This cross-sectional evidence is supplemented by a range of longitudinal studies in highincome countries that have followed children and their families forward in time. Consistently, these studies have confirmed a strong relationship between exposure to violence in childhood and subsequent risk of perpetrating dating violence as well as partner violence in adulthood (Capaldi et al., 1997; Capaldi and Clark, 1998; Ehrensaft et al., 2003; Magdol et al., 1998; Swinford and DeMaris, 2000), Other studies have demonstrated that the association with various negative health and behavioural sequelae remain, even after controlling for family dysfunction elements, such as growing up with an alcoholic parent (Chartier et al., 2010). The pattern is not inevitable, however, and a key question for future research is what genetic, situational, socio-cultural, and life course factors distinguish those who later become violent from those who go on to form healthy relationships.

While the link is well established, less is known about the exact mechanisms through which early exposure to violence operates to increase risk of future perpetration. Research from high-income country studies has demonstrated that

early exposure to violence can leave emotional and developmental scars that predispose a child to later behavioural problems, including poor school performance, bullying, and antisocial behaviour in adolescence (Hemphill, Toumbourou and Catalano, 2005; Ireland and Smith, 2009; Pears and Capaldi, 2001). Left unchecked, this developmental pathway is highly predictive of later engagement in partner violence. There is even evidence that early trauma can affect the developing brain. interfering with a child's ability to learn to trust and develop empathy, and heightening the tendency to perceive benign overtures as threats (Kinniburgh, Blaustein and Spinazzola, 2005; Neigh, Gillespie and Nemeroff, 2009; Perry, 2005). Children who grow up in violent homes also internalize the idea that violence is an effective tool to exert dominance and get what you want. If no negative consequences accompany violence, then children, especially boys, readily incorporate aggression into their behaviour (Bandura, 1978). There is an urgent need for further research to establish whether or not the developmental pathway that exists in high-income countries—early violence leading to antisocial behaviour in adolescence leading to partner violence in adulthood—is similarly operative in low-income countries; whether or not it interacts with norm-driven violence, and if so, how.

### Attitudes and norms accepting partner violence

Data from a wide range of countries demonstrate that wife-beating is normative in many settings, with women as well as men expressing support for partner violence under certain circumstances. Implicit support for violence is frequently couched in terms of men's need to 'discipline' women for various infractions, generally related to gendered expectations regarding female behaviour or deference to male authority.

Women and men appear to make finely grained distinctions as to what 'justifies' wifebeating, with individuals accepting some reasons but rejecting other reasons in a list of possible circumstances wherein abuse might be justified (Ellsberg et al., 2001). For example, in a study into attitudes and justification for wifebeating with 496 women across six villages in rural Bangladesh, Yount and colleagues found that the women in the villages held incredibly diverse beliefs about wife-beating, and that social change was perceived as a primary factor in generating these diverse beliefs and their attendant behaviours (Yount et al., 2013). Despite this reported diversity, the study found that 91 percent of women believed that wifebeating was never justified for hypothetical transgressions depicted as unintended, that is where extenuating circumstances led to transgressive behaviour (Yount et al., 2013). The authors suggest that some interview answers reflect a social desirability bias, with respondents concerned about providing an answer that did not contradict perceptions of social norms, nor put them at risk of increased violence (Yount et al., 2013).

Acceptability of violence appears to be strongly linked to both the nature of the perceived transgression and the severity of abuse. Violence that is viewed as 'without just cause' or as excessive is more likely to be condemned by women themselves and by others (Go et al., 2003; Jeejebhoy, Santhya and Sabarwal, 2013; Yount et al., 2013). This suggests the possibility of intervening at multiple levels, to: challenge the underlying beliefs that define the range of acceptable male and female behaviour; build a new social consensus that all violence is unacceptable in families, regardless of severity; foster informal sanctions against men who abuse their wives.

Over 35 population-based studies from Asia, Africa, Latin America, and the Middle East have demonstrated that women's attitudes that condone partner violence are highly associated with victimisation (Fournier et al., 1999; Guoping et al., 2010; Khawaja, Linos and El-Roueiheb, 2008; Rani and Bonu, 2009; Uthman, Lawoko and Moradi, 2010). Using detailed analysis of DHS data for over 100,000 women from 15 countries in Sub-Saharan Africa, Cools and Kotsadam (2014) found that women who believe that wife-beating is justified are 7.9 percentage points more likely to be physically or sexually abused by a partner than those who reject the legitimacy of such violence.

The role of men's attitudes toward wife-beating appears somewhat more variable. Kishor and Subaiya (2008) reviewed DHS data from ten recent surveys and found that if a man agreed that wife-beating was justified in one or more situations, it was a strong predictor of his wife being beaten in half of the sites, including Bangladesh, Bolivia, Malawi, Rwanda and Zimbabwe. Interestingly, there was little change in the odds ratios when women's attitudes about spousal violence were added to the model (Kishor and Subaiya, 2008), suggesting that, in these settings, men's attitudes may be more predictive of partner violence than the attitudes of women. The analysis also suggests that women's and men's attitudes toward wife abuse work independently to influence a woman's risk of abuse.

Likewise, the UN MCS found that the relationship between attitudes condoning wife-beating and perpetration varied across the study's nine Asian and Pacific sites. Pooled analysis across all sites, found that on average, men with gender inequitable attitudes (measured by the GEM scale) or more controlling behaviour, were 42 percent and 74 percent more likely to abuse their partners, respectively. However, the association between perpetrating partner violence and the specific question that measured attitudes toward wifebeating varied by country.<sup>1</sup>

What does appear predictive of increased partner violence are norms condoning violence at the neighbourhood, community and country level. When aggregated across individuals, attitudinal measures can serve as a reasonable proxy for the norms that prevail in a setting. Researchers have used this technique with data from the WHO DV Study and the DHS to explore the extent to which norms related to male authority and/or the acceptability of wife-beating may influence the levels of partner violence in different settings. Two of the strongest and most consistent factors that predict differences in the prevalence of partner violence across sites and countries are the degree to which wife-beating is perceived as acceptable and the degree to which culture grants men the authority to control female behaviour (Heise, 2012). Recent research in Brazil and Peru confirms that similar dynamics operate to shape the distribution of partner violence at the level of communities and neighbourhoods (Heise 2012).

#### Alcohol use

Scores of studies from low-income and middle-income countries show a strong and consistent association between men's use of alcohol and women's risk of experiencing domestic violence (Abramsky et al., 2011; Dalal et al., 2009; Foran and O'Leary, 2008; Gage 2005; Graham and Bernards, 2008; Hindin et al., 2008). One systematic review pooled the results of 11 studies and found that harmful use of alcohol was associated with a 4.6-fold increased risk of exposure to IPV compared to mild or no alcohol use (Gil-Gonzalez et al., 2006).

Risk of partner violence appears especially linked to heavy episodic drinking. A ten-country study on alcohol use and partner violence in Latin America, for example, found that violence toward female partners was especially associated with binge drinking, suggesting that

the quantity of alcohol consumed per occasion - not just whether or not her partner drinks - accounts for the relationship between drinking and partner violence (Graham et al., 2008).

A range of studies from the US, Canada, and Great Britain have likewise demonstrated that violence toward female partners is more severe and injury more likely when a man has been drinking (Desjardins and Hotton, 2004; Testa et al., 2003; Thompson and Kingree, 2006). A recent study examining 13 diverse countries confirmed the association between the severity of partner violence and alcohol use at the time of the aggression (Graham et al., 2011). Women in all 13 countries consistently ranked IPV incidents as being more severe if one or both partners had been drinking (although the effect in Nigeria was small).

Several inter-related pathways are likely to be at work in how alcohol operates to increase the risk of partner violence. Studies demonstrate that alcohol's effects on cognitive abilities and problem solving makes it harder to resolve conflict peacefully (Hoaken, Assaad et al., 1998). Alcohol also lowers inhibitions and makes it more likely that people will misinterpret verbal and nonverbal cues (Klostermann and Fals-Stewart, 2006). Similarly, alcohol increases willingness to take risks, making individuals less aware of or concerned about the consequences of their behaviour (Klostermann and Fals-Stewart, 2006).

Some evidence also suggests that the impact of alcohol on violent behaviour may be partially mediated by culturally and socially defined expectations of what happens when someone drinks (Chermack and Taylor, 1995). Peer groups and cultures may share 'cultural scripts' about how alcohol affects behaviour. To the extent that such scripts anticipate that men who drink become aggressive, these expectancies may potentiate the pharmacologic effect of

The GEM scale asks participants to note their degree of agreement with this statement: There are times when a woman deserves to be beaten. (This question is less specific than that used in the DHS.)

intoxication (Quigley and Leonard, 2006). Part of the association between violence and alcohol use may also be that men's drinking becomes a source of arguments in relationships. Analysis of overlapping individual, relationship and community-level risk factors for partner violence in Brazil and Peru demonstrates that the association between men's drinking and violence is partially mediated through couple conflict, suggesting that alcohol affects risk, in part, through conflict about drinking (Heise, 2011).

### Harmful notions of masculinity and rigid gender roles

Multiple lines of evidence suggest that certain constructions of masculinity and strictly enforced gender roles create an environment conducive to partner violence. Many societies are fundamentally patriarchal, with men considered to have greater value than women and accorded privileges - including power over women's behaviour, entitlement with respect to marital and extra-marital sex, and command of the economic and political sphere. In return, men are expected to provide economically for the family and to conform to certain expectations regarding masculinity. Although gender theorists point out that, in any setting, masculinities are multiple, dynamic and open to change, there is generally a dominant construction of gendered practice that reinforces male privilege and female obedience (Connell, 2005; Connell and Messerschmidt, 2005). Other forms of masculine practice are subordinated to this model, and all menwhether they enact the ideal or not - structure their sense of self in relation to this 'hegemonic' ideal (Beasley, 2008; Connell, 1987, 2005).2

Research done on violent men suggests that risk of partner violence is highest when narratives of what it means to be a man in a society are linked to: toughness, male control of women, husband as breadwinner, and

heterosexual performance (as exemplified through sexual prowess and multiple partners). The UN MCS, for example, found a clustering of risk factors and behaviours that co-occurred with perpetration of partner violence in most sites. These included fights with other men, frequent quarrelling, controlling behaviour in relationships, multiple sexual partners, engaging with sex workers, and transactional sex (Fulu et al., 2013). Several studies extend this finding from Asia and the Pacific to the African continent, with a similar clustering of factors emerging as predictive of partner violence in South Africa and India (Decker et al., 2009: Dunkle et al., 2006). Jewkes and Morrell argue that it is the dominant construction of masculinity, reinforced through a complex web of legal, material, and cultural processes, that unites these disparate behaviours (Jewkes and Morrell, 2012).

Other qualitative studies have highlighted how economic and social dislocation can destabilize the existing gender order and lead to an increase in physical and sexual partner violence, although perhaps only temporarily. For example, multiple studies have documented how men, who feel that they cannot fulfil expected male roles and responsibilities as the head of the household and the breadwinner, feel disempowered and humiliated, leading them to 'seek comfort in other women' and to reassert power and dominance in the one realm they still control - the family. Women's protests about men's extramarital affairs and their failure to provide often results in compensatory violence as men seek to reestablish their equilibrium and assert authority. The situation can worsen when women seek employment to help the family survive. As the woman becomes increasingly independent financially, the man's honour, reputation and masculine ego may be affected, because, in the eyes of others, he is perceived as someone who 'cannot provide for his family nor control

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Raewyn Connell (1987) initially conceptualized hegemonic masculinity as the form of masculinity in a given historical and society-wide setting that structures and legitimates hierarchical gender relations between men and women, between masculinity and femininity, and among men.

his wife' (Silberschmidt and Rasch, 2001; True, 2012). This does not suggest that economic and social change are inherently negative; and shifts towards more equitable gender norms and women's economic empowerment are certainly positive. However, policymakers need to recognise the possibility for increased VAW and put measures in place to mitigate this risk.

#### Education and women's empowerment

Some factors (such as education and women's employment) appear to have a complex relationship to partner violence that varies by: level achieved, social context, and other country-level factors.

Evidence suggests that the relationship between the level of education that a woman achieves and her risk of violence is non-linear. High educational attainment is associated with lower levels of both perpetration and victimization of partner violence, but women with minimal schooling generally have a lower risk of violence than women with slightly more schooling (Cools and Kotsadam, 2014). Jewkes argues that the likely reason for the inverted U shaped relationship between schooling and violence is that women with the least exposure to schooling probably challenge their partners less and therefore trigger less abuse (Jewkes, 2002). The protective effect of education does not appear to take hold until women complete secondary school or enter university. It may be that at this level, women's exposure to new ideas, broader social networks, and new skills are sufficient to shift the balance of power in relationships to reduce the risk of violence.

The relationship between various economic variables and women's risk of violence is similarly complex. There are few prospective studies available in either high-income or low-income countries to help clarify how changing economic circumstances affect the risk of partner violence. The only prospective study

available from the developing world on the impact of female and male employment status on partner violence is from a slum community in Bangalore. This study found that women who were unemployed at the outset and became employed during the study period faced 80 percent higher odds of violence then women whose employment status remained unchanged (Krishnan et al., 2010).

Likewise, a study that randomly distributed available employment slots in a flower firm to similarly qualified Ethiopian woman, found that domestic violence was 13 percentage points higher among those who entered employment than among those who did not. This finding is reinforced by a recent multi-level analysis of DHS data from 15 African countries, which found that, across the board, women's employment was associated with higher risks of current partner violence, regardless of whether their partner was working or not. However, the effect of, or relationship between, employment and violence may depend on the type of employment and whether or not the woman brings in income (and how much). Being employed leads to an even higher risk of violence - by 5.8 percentage points - in areas where the acceptance of wife-beating was high (Cools and Kotsadam, 2014). This finding has led the authors to propose a new 'contextual gendered resource theory', which hypothesizes that an increase in female resource levels leads to high risk of domestic violence in settings where prevailing norms and values are such that wife-beating is accepted.

In keeping with this theory, research from high-income countries suggests that women's employment has little influence on the individual risk of violence, except in relationships where the man is unemployed or holds highly-traditional gender expectations (Atkinson et al., 2005; Macmillan and Gartner, 1999). Despite increasing violence in the short-term, both theory and research suggest

that expanding women's access to waged employment is an important long-term strategy for empowering women and reducing violence (Heise, 2012). For example, using complex econometric techniques, Aizer demonstrates that an improvement in local labour market conditions for women in California over the period 1990-2003 explains 10 percent of the decline in partner violence witnessed over this same period (Aizer, 2010).

#### Community and society factors

The current evidence base is highly skewed towards factors operating at the individual level. Less is known about the relationship, community, macro-social and global processes that predispose individuals and populations to higher levels of partner violence. To date, the field of partner violence has tended to emphasise the individual-level factors that predispose individuals to partner violence, rather than the relationship, community and macro-social processes that contribute to abuse.

#### Community and institutional risk factors

There is limited evidence on the communitylevel and society-level association between institutional and systemic risk factors and women's and girl's exposure to IPV. Only 17 articles met the inclusion criteria of a recent systematic review of community level predictors of partner violence. This review found that, in US urban centres, concentrated disadvantage characterized by residential instability, poverty, female-headed households and so on - was positively associated with physical IPV in five of seven analyses (Vanderende et al., 2012). Elsewhere, there is conflicting evidence of a relationship between community economic status, male unemployment and IPV (Gage and Hutchinson, 2006; Cunradi et al., 2000; Ackerson and Subramanian, 2008; Boyle et al., 2009; Gage 2005).

Studies have also found the relationship between poverty and IPV in the developing world to be complex (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). Poverty may increase the risk of violence where households are placed under significant stress, as men and women struggle to provide for their families (Bates, Schuler, Islam and Islam, 2004; Koenig et al., 2003; Panda and Agarwal, 2005). Mixed findings also indicate that poverty may be associated with attitudes supportive of wife beating (Yount, Halim et al., 2013).

Community characteristics such as community-level education of men and women, gender norms, conflict and crime rates, and socio-economic development status have been found to have a mixed impact on the prevalence of male perpetration of IPV (Ackerson, Kawachi, Barbeau and Subramanian, 2008; Jewkes, 2002; Koenig et al., 2006; Schuler et al., 1996; Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). Kabeer cautions that women may be exposed to a higher risk of violence where transformation in gender relations has been more successful in mediating inequalities, and therefore challenging patriarchal social structures the most (Kabeer, 1998).

### Social norms as macro-level risk or protective factors

In a wide range of studies, social norms condoning wife-beating and male control of female behaviour emerge as community-level drivers of risk. Solotaroff and Pande emphasise the association between collective notions of masculinity and femininity, and notions of honour as a primary factor in the determination of gender relations, and in the prevalence of violence within those relations (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). These social norms are further related to systems and structures of culture, religion, class and caste (Bates et al., 2004; Koenig et al., 2003; Schuler et al., 1996; Solotaroff and Pande, 2014; Welchman

and Hossain, 2005). Studies from India have linked community-level acceptance of wife-beating with women's individual risk of being beaten (Boyle et al., 2009). Likewise, a range of macro-social processes that have been linked empirically to levels of partner violence across a wide range of countries, including women's access to formal wage employment, family law and inheritance regimes that discriminate against women, lack of economic rights and entitlement for women, and overall national level of socio-economic development (Heise and Kotsdam, 2015).

Finally, recent ethnographic work suggests that shifts in the way the world works (that are brought about by globalization) require reformulation of our understanding of VAW and the models we use to inform our analysis of and responses to this issue. Fulu and Miedema (in press) argue that the drivers of VAW no longer stop at national borders and recommend that an overarching 'global' framework be added to the ecological model, in order to systematically link globalized trends with the rest of the model and develop a better understanding of how VAW occurs in today's world.

The factors that determine the prevalence of partner violence at a population level may be different to those that drive risk at an individuallevel. A core insight from epidemiology (the study of population-level health) is that the factors that increase an individual's risk of developing a disease or condition may be different to those that determine the overall level of that condition in a particular setting. This observation applies equally to IPV: the factors that increase an individual's risk of perpetration or victimisation may be different to those that drive overall levels of violence at a population level. For example, binge drinking by a male partner has been linked to the frequency and severity of violence experienced by women, even in settings like the Middle East, where drinking is uncommon. On the other hand,

the relative importance of alcohol as a driver of partner violence varies by setting, depending on the prevalence of harmful drinking in the population. In short, harmful alcohol use is just as powerful a risk factor for partner violence among Egyptian woman, as it is elsewhere in the world, but it may play little, if any, role in establishing the overall level of partner violence in Egypt and other Arab states.

This distinction is important for prevention planning and prioritisation. Individual women need to know that the risk of partner violence increases if their partner drinks excessively; but primary prevention is more effective when it targets behaviour and factors— that drive partner violence at a population level - such as norms of acceptance of violence.

### 3. Non-partner sexual violence

# 3.1 What do we know about sexual violence against women by non-partners?

## Sexual violence is a global problem, but levels of violence vary significantly across and within countries.

Sexual violence can take many forms; however the most widespread and severe form is contact sexual violence, and particularly rape with oral, anal or vaginal penetration. It is a worldwide problem, violating the human rights of victims and causing enduring health and socio-psychological consequences (Jewkes, Sen and Garcia-Moreno, 2002).

The global estimate for the proportion of women and girls who have experienced non-partner sexual violence since the age of 15 is 7.2 percent, with the prevalence ranging from 5 percent in South East Asia to 12 percent in Africa (Devries et al. 2013). However, rates of sexual

violence vary significantly across countries. The WHO IPV study on women's health and domestic violence found that reported levels of sexual violence by non-partners from the age of 15 years varied from under 1 percent in Ethiopia and Bangladesh (where the majority of women are married by the age of 15) to 10-12 percent in Peru, Samoa and urban Tanzania (Garcia-Moreno et al., 2005). In terms of men's perpetration of violence: the UN MCS found prevalence ranging from 4 percent (Bangladesh) to 41 percent (Bougainville, PNG); but in most sites it was between 6 percent and 8 percent (Fulu et al. 2013). A large communitybased study in South Africa found 21 percent of adult men had forced a woman who was not an intimate partner to have sex against her will (Jewkes et al., 2011). The IMAGES study found that 24 percent of all men (and 36 percent of married men) in India and 9 percent in Chile and Rwanda disclosed having ever been sexually violent (Barker and Contreras Urbina, 2011).

Estimates from high-income countries raise the possibility that perpetration of rape is lower than in low-income and middle-income countries, but there is insufficient data to draw valid conclusions about this. A national survey of men in college in the US found that 7.7 percent reported having engaged in behaviour that met the legal definition of rape or attempted rape (Koss et al., 1987); and in a large national survey of adolescents, 5.6 percent had sexually coerced a romantic partner (Casey et al., 2009). These are very similar to the prevalence rates of rape and attempted rape (5.2 percent) disclosed by Spanish college men (Martín et al., 2005). Further, the possibility of prevalence rates of rape being lower in highincome and middle-income countries has also been supported by the findings of more recent research done with men in college (White and Smith, 2004).

Sexual violence most commonly occurs within intimate partner relationships, but there is a strong overlap between the perpetration of non-partner sexual violence and intimate partner sexual violence.

Sexual violence most commonly occurs within intimate partner relationships (Jewkes, Fulu et al., 2013), which is discussed in detail in the previous section. However, sexual violence of a non-partner woman, including rape is of serious concern and particularly common in some settings, including South Africa and PNG. Furthermore, there is a strong overlap between the perpetration of non-partner sexual violence and intimate partner sexual violence. In the UN MCS, two-thirds of men who had raped a non-partner reported that they had also forced their partner to have sex (Jewkes, Fulu et al., 2013).

Further, a recent paper by Fulu and colleagues found that factors associated with perpetration of sexual IPV seem to be more similar to those associated with non-partner sexual violence than those associated with physical IPV (Fulu et al., 2013). This suggests that men who use sexual violence might need specific interventions (Jewkes et al., 2013). Male perpetration of sexual violence only against their partners was associated with experiences of childhood sexual and emotional abuse, but not physical abuse. Sexual-only IPV perpetration was not associated with gender-inequitable attitudes, but was strongly associated with having multiple sexual partners and engaging in transactional sex. This finding suggests that sexual violence perpetration is indicative of a preoccupation with the demonstration of (hetero) sexual performance and sexual dominance over women, and is associated with emotionally detached sex, as suggested by other investigators (Dunkle et al., 2007; Jewkes et al., 2013; Malamuth, 2003). These factors also relate to norms of masculinity that emphasise toughness and dominance over other men. which further prevail in involvement with gangs and fights with weapons (Knight and Sims-Knight, 2003; Silverman et al., 2004; Decker et al., 2009; Shannon et al., 2012).

## Gang rape is the least common form of sexual violence in most settings; however, it is of serious concern in some countries.

The UN MCS found that, in most sites, the prevalence of gang rape ranged from 1-2 percent; however in Cambodia it was 5 percent, in Papua, Indonesia it was 7 percent and Bougainville, PNG was highest of all was at 14 percent. Only in Cambodia was multiple perpetrator rape more common than single perpetrator rape (Fulu et al., 2013). Where rates of gang rape are high, it appears to be a cultural/sub-cultural practice or to have a level of cultural legitimacy, often with its own local term. For example, in PNG it is known as lainup (Team and Jenkins, n.d.), in Cambodia it is referred to as bauk (Wilkinson et al., 2005), and in South Africa in is termed streamlining (Wood. 2005). It seems likely that a high rape prevalence rate has its roots in aspects of culture related to sexual entitlement and gender relations (Wilkinson et al., 2005; Wood, 2005). Recent research from both Cambodia and PNG link the issue of gang rape with male delinguency and young men's attempts to define their masculine identity (Bearup, 2003; Dinnen and Thompson, 2004; Wilkinson, Bearup et al., 2005).

# The majority of sexual offences are committed by men known to the victim, with approximately half being repeat offenders.

Both men and women perpetrate sexual violence (Sikweyiya and Jewkes, 2009), however the majority of sexual offences are committed by men (Steffensmeier et al., 2006).

Most sexual violence is perpetrated by a single perpetrator who is known to the victim. For example, in South Africa, a survey of over 1,300 women in three provinces found that women's first episode of rape was perpetrated in 43 percent of cases by a stranger, 21 percent by an acquaintance, 9 percent by someone from school, 9 percent by a relative, 8 percent by a partner and 11% by others (Mathews et al., 2009; Jewkes et al., 1999). Elsewhere in the world (with the exception of some South Pacific islands), an even greater ratio of forced sex is perpetrated by individuals known to the victim.

Research suggests that approximately half of all sexual offenders are repeat offenders. Although this may include date rape offenders, the rate of repeat offence found in college and community samples in the US and South Africa is close to 50 percent (White and Smith, 2004; Jewkes et al., 2011). The UN MCS data set also shows that approximately half of all men who have ever raped a non-partner had raped more than one woman, and 16% had forced four or more women to have sex (ranging from 7 percent in Bangladesh to 19 percent in PNG) (Jewkes et al., 2013).

### Perpetration of non-partner sexual violence usually starts in adolescence.

Studies have also demonstrated the significance of age for perpetrators of sexual violence. In the UN MCS, over half (58 percent) of the men who reported having raped a non-partner woman did so for the first time when they were teenagers, and 15 percent did so for the first time when they were under the age of 15. In some sites, specifically Cambodia, Bougainville in Papua New Guinea, and Papua Province in Indonesia, a relatively large proportion of men reported that they were younger than 15 at the time they first perpetrated rape (Fulu, Warner et al., 2013). In both the USA and South Africa, about 75 percent of men who rape do so for the first time as teenagers (White and Smith, 2004; Rachel Jewkes et al., 2011). This has important implications for primary prevention of sexual violence, as discussed below.

Existing research on VAWG also fails to adequately distinguish between the distinct experiences of violence for girls and women at different stages in life. As discussed, girls and women are exposed to numerous risk factors for each form of violence, however these vary according to age, and according to partner or non-partner status (Ellsberg and Heise, 2005; Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). Examining the forms of violence experienced throughout women's lifecycle - infancy, girlhood, adolescence, adulthood and old age - reveals the particular characteristics of these distinct forms. For example, in their review of VAWG studies across life stages, Solotaroff and Pande suggest that adolescent girls are exposed to a greater risk of both partner and non-partner sexual violence compared to older women, suggesting that this may be associated with the specific individual, relationship, community and societal risk factors to which adolescent girls are exposed (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). Strengthening these distinctions in further research into VAWG is crucial for the design of appropriate and informed preventative interventions and policies that target violence throughout all life stages.

# While impunity remains a serious concern, data does not suggest that incarceration of perpetrators is a strong preventative.

In South Africa, only 3.2 percent of adult rape cases and 4 percent of child rape cases that are reported to the police result in conviction and imprisonment (Jewkes et al., 2009). In a South African population-based study, only 13 percent of those disclosing rape reported having ever been imprisoned for their crime (Jewkes et al., 2011). However, data from Asia-Pacific found surprisingly high conviction rates of men who had raped, compared with those in other countries (Kelly et al., 2005; Jewkes et al., 2009) - probably because reports of conviction included responses by community justice and village authorities. Nevertheless, this did not suggest that the threat of prison or detention

is a strong deterrent against rape perpetration as countries with the highest conviction rates also had the highest rates of perpetration. In view of the high prevalence of rape, prevention strategies need to focus on structural and social risk factors, and on preventing rape from ever occurring - rather than relying on prevention through legal response after the fact (Jewkes et al., 2013).

### Non-partner sexual violence is motivated primarily by sexual entitlement.

According to the UN MCS and comparable data from South Africa, the most commonly reported motivation for rape perpetration, as reported by men themselves, was related to feeling entitled to have sex, regardless of consent (sexual entitlement). In most countries. this was reported by 70-80 percent of men who had ever forced a woman or girl to have sex (Fulu, Warner et al., 2013; Jewkes et al., 2011). The second most frequently reported motivation in most countries was related to entertainment seeking. While alcohol is often assumed to be a common trigger for violence perpetration, it was the least common response given by men when asked for the possible reasons for raping across all sites. Further research is needed in this area, particularly qualitative research to understand these and other possible motivations more clearly.3

### Men who rape men have also often raped women.

Research done in South Africa that asked about perpetration against both sexes found that one in ten men who have raped women or girls had also raped a man or boy (Jewkes et al., 2011). Men who rape both men and women were considered particularly aggressive. The UN MCS also examined male rape of other men. Rape perpetration of a man was found to be less prevalent than rape perpetration of a female non-partner and, in most sites, it was disclosed by less than 3 percent of men. In Cambodia

(national) and Bangladesh (rural), however, the perpetration of rape against a man was disclosed by 3-4 percent of male respondents and in Bougainville, PNG by 8 percent of men. The association between a man raping a man and raping any woman (partner or non-partner) is pronounced: most men who had raped another man (or men) had also raped a woman. The association was between male rape and gang rape, suggesting a common social context for these two acts - possibly the shared anti-social peer group context.

### 3.2 What risk factors influence sexual violence perpetrated by non-partners?

Data on risk and protective factors is vital for the prevention of sexual violence. Collected mainly from cross-sectional studies, this data gives a 'snapshot' of a situation at a given time and does not provide information on the temporal nature of these factors or on 'what happens when'. However, given the scarce longitudinal data available, this information is still highly relevant for prevention interventions and for informing a theory of change.

This section: presents what we know about the factors associated with non-partner sexual violence; positions those factors within the socio-political and economic contexts that also contribute to the prevalence of sexual violence.

# Some factors appear consistently influential in increasing the risk of non-partner sexual violence in low-income and middle-income settings.

A review published by the WHO on factors associated with being a female victim of non-partner sexual violence identified the factors as follows: being young, poverty, physical disability, mental vulnerability, substance abuse, prior

victimisation and coming from a dysfunctional home (World Health Organization and London School of Hygeine and Tropical Medicine, 2010). Research from North America, South Africa and Asia-Pacific suggests that key risk factors for men's rape perpetration include (Abbey et al., 2006; Jewkes et al., 2011; Jewkes et al., 2013; Knight and Sims-Knight, 2003: Malamuth et al., 1991):

- Adverse childhood experiences (abuse);
- Prevalent gender inequitable ideals of masculinity that emphasise the importance of heterosexual performance (e.g. many sexual partners, including transactional sex, and to prove male sexual prowess), and control of women (including with physical violence);
- Social learning and delinquency (including gang membership);
- · Personality disorders;
- · Substance misuse; and
- · Poverty and social disadvantage.

There is a considerable degree of interconnectedness between these factors, as discussed below, and indeed between them and other factors where direct impact on rape perpetration has yet to be demonstrated (Jewkes, 2012).

#### Adverse childhood experiences

Traumatic events in childhood are the most commonly reported and best documented risk factors for sex offending (Amaro et al., 2001; Maniglio, 2010; Seto, Lalumière and Maniglio, 2010). The strongest evidence is childhood sexual abuse - in a meta-analysis, a history of child sexual abuse (CSA) was five times more common among adolescent sexual offenders than among adolescent non-sexual offenders (Seto et al., 2010). Several large national studies

In the UN MCS on Men and Violence, men who had raped were presented with a series of statements and asked if they strongly agreed, agreed, disagreed, or strongly disagreed with the statements about why they did what they did. The statements were grouped into the following categories: expressing sexual entitlement ("I wanted her," I wanted to have sex' or "I wanted to show I could do it"); seeking entertainment ("I wanted to have fun," I was bored"); arising from anger or punishment ("I wanted to punish her," I was angry with her"); and drinking ("I had been drinking"). They could indicate more than one motivation for perpetrating rape.

of US adolescents and men in college have found that those who had sexually assaulted a partner were significantly more likely to have experienced sexual abuse themselves (Borowsky, Hogan and Ireland, 1997; Casey et al., 2009; Malamuth, 2003; Malamuth et al., 1991; Malamuth et al., 1995). A recent study done with more than 10,000 men across nine sites in the Asia-Pacific region found that men with a history of victimisation, especially CSA and having been raped or otherwise sexually coerced themselves, were more likely (than those without such a past) to have perpetrated rape against a non-partner (Jewkes et al., 2013).

Importantly, this data from the UN MCS also shows that experiencing physical and emotional abuse are important risk factors, independent of sexual abuse, for men's perpetration of sexual violence (Fulu et al., forthcoming). This suggests that negative family environments, including emotional abuse and neglect (for example, parents being too drunk or drugged to take care of children, children being moved between different households often, parents not knowing where the child is, and so on), may be important in their own right, independent of physical and sexual abuse. There is also evidence that childhood exposure to domestic violence, removal from the family, family disruption and parental loss due to death or divorce may be risk factors for perpetration (Maniglio, 2010).

In terms of pathways to violence, the use of physical punishment may be one aspect of poor parenting that results in insecure or disordered attachment to caregivers and this has been shown to be a risk factor. Adversity in childhood may directly impact on the developing brain, impacting on its anatomy and neurophysiology (functioning). Some of the research done on the MAOA gene suggests that part of this process is genetically mediated, although the evidence is not yet conclusive. The impact of this is seen in personality, which may then predispose the

individual to both general anti-social behaviour and a propensity to become sexually violent. One pathway through which sexual abuse exposure is believed to impact on perpetration is through social learning and re-enactment, and impacting on ideas of acceptability of and familiarity with sexual coercion.

While childhood exposure to abuse is one of the strongest and most consistent risk factors, it must be acknowledged that not all sex offenders have been victimised in childhood (Van Wijk et al., 2006), and the majority of those who are victimised do not go on to become offenders (Maniglio, 2009; Morris et al., 2002).

## Gender inequality and dominant masculinities that emphasise heterosexual performance

There is strong evidence that the gender climate within a society impacts on the likelihood of non-partner sexual violence perpetration and that a very large part of the problem of rape needs to be fundamentally understood as the 'performance' of men's sexual entitlement over women. As discussed above, research has found that men's self-reported motivations for raping relate most often to notions of sexual entitlement. Further, the UN MCS found that gendered practices associated with sexual dominance are especially important in understanding rape perpetration. Rape of women was strongly associated with partner numbers, transactional sex, and use of physical violence against a female partner (Jewkes et al., 2013). Men with these factors had higher rates of rape in a South African longitudinal research study (Jewkes et al., 2012), where these behaviours were interpreted as not merely expressing sex seeking, but rather as concepts of masculinity that emphasise proven heterosexual performance and dominance over women (Knight and Sims-Knight, 2003; Malamuth, 2003; Jewkes et al., 2011).

Further, social norms regarding gender relations need to be understood as one of the important environmental or structural exposure aspects that may mediate the likelihood of men who have been exposed to adversity in childhood becoming sexually violent. There is considerable evidence from research in gender studies that the content of dominant or hegemonic masculinity within a culture or a sub-cultural setting may be a latent unifying factor that explains associations between a range of men's practices and attitudes, and their likelihood of raping. However, this work does not explain how men may be attracted to or influenced into adopting particular ideas of masculinity over others that pertain in a setting. It seems likely that personality factors and other social influences may be important here too (Jewkes, 2012).

### Social learning and delinquency

There is strong evidence that boys and young men who are delinquent and join gangs are more likely to be sexually violent. The UN MCS found that involvement in fights with weapons, gang membership and drug use within the past year was associated with nonpartner rape (Jewkes et al., 2013). These factors reflect influential narratives of masculinity that justify and celebrate domination, aggression, strength, and men's control over women. Multiple factors are brought to bear on this practice. There are genetic influences on antisocial behaviour and personality factors that influence delinquent peer association, which, in turn, may be influenced by childhood adversity exposure. Social influences are important and men who are more susceptible to peer pressure (because of personality) may be more likely to join gangs and to perpetrate rape. Delinquent peer associations are also contexts in which young men may use drugs and alcohol, and have weapons - all of which may situationally or causally impact on sexual violence perpetration. Furthermore, delinguent peer groups are generally contexts in which there is an exaggerated performance of heterosexuality, with competition between men and boys to demonstrate manhood. This may often take the form of demonstrations of male power over women and the use of violence (Fulu et al., 2013).

### Personality disorders

offenders generally Sex report psychological problems than non-offenders and non-sex offenders, but the findings are inconclusive. A South African study of adolescent men found that men with high levels of depressive symptomatology were significantly more likely to have raped a nonpartner and been sexually violent to a partner; but a prospective analysis found no greater likelihood of sexual violence over one year of follow up among depressed men (Jewkes et al., 2010). Depression was also found to be associated with rape perpetration in the UN MCS, but only in Cambodia (Fulu, Warner et al., 2013).

Empathy may act as an inhibiting factor that operates to prevent sexual violence perpetration by men, but the research is inconclusive. Abbey, in research done with a community-based sample of adult men in the US, found higher levels of empathy to be an important deterrent of rape perpetration (Abbey et al., 2006). However, a large South African study found that: men who have raped have lower levels of empathy than those who have not raped; but that empathy per se was not important after adjustment for psychopathy dimensions (Jewkes et al., 2011). In the UN MCS. empathy was found to be protective against rape perpetration, but only in Bangladesh and Bougainville (PNG) (Fulu, Warner et al., 2013).

#### Alcohol and drug misuse

Research suggests that alcohol is a situational factor in many acts of sexual aggression, but not a factor that causes men who would otherwise not do so to be sexually coercive (Seto and Barbaree, 1995). Alcohol is often found in situations conducive to sexual aggression, and in some settings, notably college campuses in the US, alcohol consumption by the victim and perpetrator is a feature of between 30-75 percent of rapes (Abbey et al., 2011; Lackie and De Man, 1997). In the UN MCS, alcohol misuse was associated with rape perpetration in the data set overall, and in four of the countries (Cambodia, China, Indonesia and PNG). Substantial research has been undertaken into the role of alcohol in rape perpetration; the existing hypothesis is that it is a situational factor that reduces inhibitions (McDonald, 1994: Abbey et al., 2001), and that alcohol misuse is associated with particular dominant masculinities (Jewkes and Morrell, 2012).

The evidence suggests that reducing levels of drinking overall would have a beneficial impact on vulnerability to rape perpetration and victimisation, but that this should be undertaken in conjunction with interventions to change the social meaning of alcohol consumption, particularly to address links between men's sexual entitlement behaviour and alcohol consumption.

It is most likely that the association between drug use and rape is not causal, but explained by a third factor that encompasses the propensity for both practices. A longitudinal study of men in college in the US has shown that drug use immediately prior to a sexual encounter was associated with greater sexual aggression, after adjusting for alcohol use (Swartout and White, 2010). A prospective study from South Africa has shown that the incidence of rape perpetration is elevated among men who have ever used drugs - indeed 24 percent of all rapes

would have been prevented if drug use had not occurred (Jewkes et al., 2012). And the UN MCS also found current drug use to be associated with non-partner rape perpetration, but only in Cambodia. However, a number of other studies show no association between drug use and non-partner rape perpetration (Jewkes et al., 2011; Kalichman et al., 2009). It is argued that rather than the influence of drug use on rape perpetration being pharmacological, it was an indicator for engagement in a sub-cultural peer context of drug use wherein rape was seen as 'normal' (Jewkes et al., 2012; Kilpatrick et al., 1997; Swartout and White, 2010).

#### Poverty and social disadvantage

Research findings are inconsistent on the role of poverty and social disadvantage in sexual violence perpetration - it is likely that the relationship is not a simple or linear one, and that it may be closely linked to the social conditions of life, in particular income and the opportunities and expectations that are thus entailed.

The UN MCS found that men who were poor (indicated by present food insecurity) were more likely to have raped, but this was not consistent across settings: it was significant only in the least developed country settings. Two studies done in South Africa have shown that, among the poor, it is the slightly less poor who are more likely to rape (Jewkes et al., 2006). This finding was supported by a large sample of adult men from the South African general population, whose risk of rape perpetration was highest among those in the low-income bracket, as opposed to those not earning at all, or those in higher income brackets (Jewkes et al., 2011). However, the prospective study of rape perpetration in South Africa did not show socio-economic status to be associated with an elevated incidence of rape perpetration (Jewkes et al., 2012).

In situations of poverty, however, sub-cultures of gang membership and drug use can develop, providing a context in which dominance over women and other men might be emphasised, in order to compensate for otherwise perceived disempowerment (Borowsky et al., 1997; Knight and Sims-Knight, 2003; Malamuth et al., 1991). VAW may also be triggered by men's perceived disempowerment in environments in which rapid social and economic structural changes impact perceptions regarding women's and men's roles and rights within the society. This has been demonstrated in qualitative and ethnographic research from Asia (Fulu et al., 2013), and highlights the need to understand and address intersections between gender inequality and other forms of social inequality at the structural, political and economic levels, in order to prevent VAWG.

# The risk factors for forcing sex within an ongoing relationship appear to be somewhat different to those that drive rape outside of relationships.

Both partner sexual violence and non-partner rape appear fundamentally related to unequal gender norms, power inequalities and dominant ideals of masculinity and femininity that support violence and control over women. However, there are also some unique drivers or triggers of these different types of violence. IPV is more strongly associated with gender inequality in the home and experiences of child abuse, while non-partner rape is more strongly correlated with notions of manhood that promote heterosexual dominance and involvement in gangs and fights that include the use of weapons. Non-partner sexual violence was also more strongly associated with alcohol and drug misuse, poverty and depression, compared to IPV.

### Risk factors for rape of a man are similar to those of the rape of a non-partner woman.

Analysis of the risk factors for male rape perpetration also found that the factors associated with the rape of a man are similar to those of the rape of a non-partner woman: sexual practices, victimization history and experiences of violence outside the home. Some notable differences are that perpetration of non-partner rape of a woman was associated with childhood experiences of violence, depression and alcohol abuse, which were not associated with rape of a man (Jewkes et al., 2013).

### 4. Child abuse

### 4.1 What do we know about child abuse?

In addition to being a significant global problem in its own right, violence against children is an important risk factor for a host of other problems in adulthood, including IPV and rape. Thus, any serious effort to prevent abuse of women must take on the challenge of preventing violence early in life. The evidence presented in this section is generally not gender-disaggregated by the studies analysed, which presents a challenge for establishing a strong basis for comparative analysis. The following discussion thus refers to child abuse of both female and male children, and highlights a need for more directed research into the particular type of violence experienced by girls and boys globally.

Violence against children is a worldwide problem, although the current evidence base on prevalence is highly skewed toward sexual abuse and Western high-income countries.

Researchers frequently divide children's exposure to violence into three broad

categories: harsh parental punishment; children witnessing violence between partners; and maltreatment and neglect. This latter category is further divided into: physical and sexual abuse; emotional abuse; and physical and emotional neglect.

Global prevalence estimates on violence against children are dominated by sexual abuse, followed by physical abuse, with the number of worldwide studies on sexual abuse outnumbering research on all other types of child maltreatment together. This research focus could be due to the substantial moral sentiment attached to cases of CSA, rating it as a research priority over physical and emotional abuse (Gilbert, Widom, Browne, Fergusson, Webb and Janson, 2009).

Current research is also strongly concentrated in Western, high-income countries, although recently initiated efforts in developing countries should begin to correct this bias (Gilbert et al., 2009). For example, the UN Children's Fund (UNICEF), the US Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), and Together for Girls have launched a series of national-level surveys on violence against children, with more than a dozen national surveys completed or planned in Africa and Asia. Likewise, UNICEF has added a specialized module on child discipline to its Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys, and a handful of governments have implemented the module within the DHS survey. Below, we summarize available global estimates of children's exposure to violence in childhood.

#### Harsh physical punishment

Data from 35 countries implementing the UNICEF middle-income countries' module in 2005-06, show that 76 percent of children aged 2 to 14 experienced physical punishment and/ or psychological aggression by a parent or

caretaker within the previous month. Two out of three children were physically punished, and some of this physical punishment was severe (UNICEF Innocenti Research Centre, 2010). According to mothers' reports, in the past month: 16 percent of children aged 2 to 14 were hit or slapped on the face head or ears; 20 percent were hit or slapped on the hands, arms or legs; and 4 percent were beaten (hit repeatedly as hard as possible) in the past month.<sup>4</sup>

#### Children witnessing their parent's violence

Given the global ubiquity of partner violence, it is not surprising that the most common form of childhood exposure to violence is children witnessing marital violence in their homes. Extrapolating from prevalence figures of partner violence in the DHS and other population-based surveys, the UN Secretary General's Study on Violence against Children estimates that 133 to 275 million children witness partner violence annually and on a frequent basis: usually violent fights between parents or between their mother and her partner.<sup>5</sup>

Studies from both the industrial and developing world demonstrate that children who witness partner violence experience many of the same psychological and social consequences as children who are physically or sexually abused (Kitzmann et al., 2003; Herrenkohl et al., 2008). Consequences include both the immediate impact on a child's behaviour and personality, as well as damage that carries forward into later childhood, adolescence and adult life. Studies likewise suggest that children who witness IPV or parental substance abuse in the home, or whose parents have suffered spousal abuse, are more likely to be subjected to child abuse (Catani, Jaon, Schauer, Kohila and Neuner, 2008; Hunter, et al., 2000; Silverman, Decker,

<sup>4</sup> Percentages are based on 33 countries. Egypt and Mongolia were omitted because they used slightly different wording in the questions. 5 UN Secretary General, Study on Violence against Children. Estimates are based on: UN Population Division Data for Global Population under 18 Years, 2000; various domestic violence studies, 1987–2005; analysis by the Secretariat of the UN Secretary General's Study on Violence against

Cheng, Wirth, Saggurti, Mccauley, Falb, Donta and Raj, 2011). However, these findings are not disaggregated by sex (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014).

#### Child sexual abuse

Stoltenborgh and colleagues conducted a meta-analysis of publications on CSA between 1982 and 2008, in order to outline existing knowledge and as an attempt to establish patterns of geographical and sampling characteristics, as well as prevalence rates, beliefs and practices (Stoltenborgh, Van Ijzendoorn, Euser and Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2011). They found that global prevalence estimates vary from 0.1 percent (Mackenzie, Blanev, Chivers and Vincent, 1993) to 71.0 percent (Everill and Waller, 1995), and suggest the significant variation is the result of inconsistent methods and approaches, inconsistent definitions of CSA, and the specific priorities of the studies. By combining prevalence rates from 217 publications on CSA, or 331 samples with nearly ten million participants, they estimate the global prevalence at 11.8 percent, or 118 per 1000 children (Stoltenborgh et al., 2011). This meta-analysis also found that women reported CSA more often than men, resulting in a gendered prevalence rate of 18.0 percent for girls and 7.6 percent for boys - though this may reflect women's motivations and their willingness to report abuse, rather than a higher occurrence of abuse.

The lowest rates for both girls (11.3 percent) and boys (4.1 percent) are found in Asia; the highest rates for girls are found in Australia (21.5 percent) and for boys in Africa (19.3 percent). Girls typically report rates two to three times higher than boys in high-income settings (Gilbert et al., 2009), although rates of abuse reported by boys are similar to those rates reported by girls in other settings. Further, research done in China (Cheng-Fang and Mei-Sang, 2008), Poland (Mossige et al., 2007),

and Lebanon (Kessler et al., 2010) has found higher reports of sexual abuse/child sexual victimization among boys compared to girls. Stigma, however, may operate to prevent children from revealing and/or reporting abuse, such as where a high value is placed on preserving girls' virginity to preserve family and community 'honour' (Welchman and Hossain, 2005). Similarly, negative beliefs regarding homosexuality may discourage young boys from revealing their experiences of CSA. As CSA is often perpetrated by individuals in positions of authority, children are particularly vulnerable to abusive relationships and may feel uncomfortable or unable to speak out against abuse.

#### Other forms of maltreatment

In high-income countries, the annual prevalence of physical abuse ranges from 4 percent to 16 percent, and approximately 10 percent of children are neglected or emotionally abused (Gilbert et al., 2009); 80 percent of this maltreatment is perpetrated by parents or caregivers (Gilbert et al., 2009).

WorldSafe, a multi-site household survey that interviewed mothers in Brazil, Chile, Egypt, India, the Philippines and the US, documented similarly high rates of physical abuse when comparing two different definitions of abuse. The first definition included beating up, choking, burning, smothering and kicking children of any age, and violent shaking of children less than two years old. The second, more expansive, definition included hitting children with objects such as sticks.

When applying the first definition, the results showed that 16.5 percent of children in the median community had experienced physical abuse during the past year. The rate climbed to 39 percent when hitting children with objects was included in the definition. Rates varied widely among communities. Only 0.1

percent of mothers in a non-slum community in New Delhi reported that their children are beaten, compared (Moffitt and Caspi, 2003) to 24 percent in El-Sheik-Zayad (Egypt) and 29 percent in an urban slum in Bhopal (India). In India, the rate varied more than ten-fold among the 14 communities that were sampled (Runyan et al., 2010). However, it is difficult to determine from findings whether these large variations reflect reporting differentials based on inconsistent methods, or actual differentials. Existing evidence suggests that such differences could be related to the acceptability or justifications for using physical violence as discipline against children; however, more targeted research is needed that engages with clear conceptualisations of child abuse, and examines the attitudes, beliefs and practices of both parents and children. The line between 'punishment' and child abuse has long been contested among individuals and across cultural settings.

Types of violence and adversity in families frequently overlap. This means that researchers must understand family environments that put children at risk, rather than studying one type of violence at a time.

As the number of risk factors increase, the likelihood of child abuse and neglect increases dramatically. In one prospective study of child development, the prevalence of child abuse or neglect increased from 3 percent when no risk factors were present to 24 percent when four or more risk factors were present (Brown, 2009). This overlap makes it difficult to: sort out the unique contribution of one type of violence from another (e.g. being beaten as a child versus witnessing your mother being beaten); or determine whether it is the violence per se that leads to negative consequences or 'merely' growing up in a generally dysfunctional home with many social and economic stressors that leads to negative consequences.

To begin to disentangle these relationships, researchers need data on different types of abuse, as well as the contextual factors that may give rise to them - for example, poor parenting, parental depression or alcohol abuse, and norms regarding men's right to control and discipline female and child behaviour. Innovations such as the Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) instrument and the Child Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) are particularly useful because they inquire about a broader range of experiences rather than a single type of abuse or exposure to violence. For example, the abbreviated ACE questionnaire used in the US asks about ten common childhood adversities, for example, losing a parent, having a parent with a drug or alcohol problem, or experiencing various types of abuse.

Studies using the ACE in high-income settings have found a strongly graded relationship between the number of adverse events a person experiences in childhood and an array of negative outcomes, such as partner violence, alcoholism, illicit drug use, early intercourse, promiscuity (>30 partners), multiple somatic symptoms, and various mental and physical health problems (Anda et al., 2006; Whitfield et al., 2003). Thus, the effects of early trauma and adversity appear to be cumulative.

### 4.2 What risk factors influence child abuse?

Relatively little is known about factors that heighten or moderate risk of child abuse or neglect in low-income and middle-income countries. While much existing research comes from high-income settings, especially the US, the review of evidence from South Asia by Solotaroff and Pande (2014) offers a cursory analysis of the limited existing data on individual, household and relationship, institutional and social risk factors for child abuse. It is important to distinguish these factors from those examined for forms of

violence that occur at later life stages, as they represent specific constellations of events, beliefs and practices that must be noted for the design of informed interventions.

#### Individual factors

Longitudinal studies have shown: that parents with inconsistent and harsh parenting styles are at heightened risk of abusing their children; and that their children are at heightened risk of becoming violent themselves in later life (Capaldi et al., 1997; Swinford and DeMaris, 2000). Solotaroff and Pande suggest that selfefficacy and self-confidence, negotiation skills, and the overall relationship between children and parents are protective factors associated with child abuse, adolescent sexual harassment, and child marriage (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). As explored below, this initial evidence presented for individual factors suggest that child abuse is associated with a complex web of broader types of violence and household insecurity, as well as the multiple and interrelated risk factors identified for these forms of VAWG

#### Household and relationship factors

Children who grow up in violent homes are at substantially greater risk of being physically and sexually abused themselves (Dong et al., 2004; Hamby et al., 2010; Holt, Buckley and Whelan, 2008; Renner and Slack, 2006). For example, in their study of a birth cohort from Dunedin (New Zealand), Moffitt and Caspi found that the risk of abuse among children in homes where parents fought physically was three to nine times higher than for other children (Moffit and Caspi 2003). Studies in India have also found that the occurrence of violence in the home is a risk factor for the increased likelihood of child abuse (Ackerson and Subramanian, 2009; Hunter et al., 2000; Nanda et al., 2013; Silverman et al., 2011). In a study of the social ecology of child discipline practices in rural India, Hunter et al (2000) found that spousal abuse of mothers doubled the risk of severe physical punishment of children by their mothers. The authors suggest that this association between multiple forms of violence in the home, linked also with drunkenness of a husband and maternal depression, may reflect behavioural patterns of managing family conflict (Hunter et al., 2000). In another study, done by Silverman and colleagues (2011) using data from the Indian National Family Health Survey, it was found that infant and child mortality were significantly higher among births to mothers who had experienced spousal violence compared with women who had not experienced spousal violence. Likewise. Ackerson and Subramanian (2009) found that IPV, sexual violence, psychological abuse, and physical abuse of mothers were all factors for increased risk of infant and child death. In each of these studies, the multiple forms of violence reported occurred within complex relationships between other socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of individuals and households.

One study of child abuse in 28 developing and transitional countries (countries of the former Soviet Europe and the former Yugoslavia) found that children from poorer families were at heightened risk of physical and emotional abuse, including harsh physical punishment. The impact of poverty was even greater among parents who exhibited supportive attitudes toward corporal punishment. Approval of corporal punishment was strongly associated with all forms of abuse. Younger children and boys were slightly more likely to experience physical violence than were girls (Akmatov, 2011).

Other research suggests that mental health problems, low educational achievement, alcohol and drug misuse, having been maltreated oneself as a child, and family breakdown, or violence between other family

members, are additional factors for parents abusing their children (Butchart and Harvey, 2006).

### Systems and institutional risk factors

The weak legal frameworks and lack of enforcement in addressing child abuse and child mortality, including birth registration systems, reflect institutional risk factors for the continued perpetration of violence against children in some settings (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). For example, police officers in India are either not trained, or do not adequately address reports of sexual assault of girls, and may even refuse to register cases of abuse (Singh and Kapur, 2001). This has further consequences, for victims who are unable to bring a case before a court, given the lack of a police report and police cooperation - and, often, the support of their families (Singh and Kapur, 2001). As discussed above, attitudes and practices institutionalized within legal frameworks and systems are interconnected with broader social norms, such that these institutional risk factors may be seen to reflect a complex relationship with normative sociocultural beliefs on gender relations.

### Social norms as risk or protective factors

There is a lack of quantitative data on the association between social norms as risk or protective factors for violence against both girl and boy children (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). Ethnographic literature on violence and sociocultural gender inequalities in South Asia does, however, provide an indication of the role of social norms in perpetuating violence against girls (Baxi, Rai and Ali, 2006; Singh and Kapur, 2001; Welchman and Hossain, 2005). As discussed above, beliefs and practices surrounding dowry violence and honour crimes operate with sociocultural notions of femininity and masculinity, religion, caste, and class that

promote the virginity of girls as the 'honour' of the family and community (Solotaroff and Pande, 2014). The association between such social norms and the prevalence of child abuse, including the complex relationship between norms, institutions, and individual attitudes, requires further investigation to support stronger analytical claims.

Despite the number and variety of risk factors that many children experience, studies suggest that children can be resilient to the deleterious effects of violence exposure.

A resilient child is one who achieves positive outcomes (or avoids negative outcomes) regardless of early exposure to violence or adversity. Resilience is likely the result of a child having qualities that are inherently protective (for example, intelligence and positive coping skills) as well as having access to resources and networks of support that promote and help maintain a process of healing and psychological wellness (Rutter, 2006). Key protective factors include a warm and supportive relationship with a caring non-abusive adult, lack of abuserelated stress, and strong neighbourhood cohesion (Collishaw et al., 2007). Biological and genetic factors may also play a role, although research on genetic influences is a relatively new field (Rutter, 2012).

### 5. What are the key gaps in our knowledge base?

The field of VAWG has advanced considerably over the past two decades. We have much more information on the prevalence of violence in low-income and middle-income countries as well as an expanding body of knowledge on risk and protective factors. There are also a host of lessons from prior or current interventions for how to improve, strengthen or increase the sophistication of primary prevention programmes; these are discussed in Paper 2 of the What Works series.

The evidence outlined above positions us well to develop and implement strong primary prevention interventions with a rigorous theory of change. However, there are still key gaps that need to be addressed in order to move towards more sophisticated models of intervention. This section highlights the critical areas where more evidence is needed.

### Prevalence and types of violence

- Our information base on CSA is woefully inadequate. Especially lacking is: research on sexual abuse in low-income and middleincome countries; research on the sexual abuse of boys; and sexual abuse perpetrated by women.
- 2. Methods to reliably measure sexual and emotional violence across cultures are less well developed than those available to measure physical violence. Generally, we know less about the prevalence and aetiology of sexual violence than we do about physical violence hence we are less prepared to prevent it.
- Overall, we know less about men's perpetration of violence compared to women's victimization, but this is changing

- after some large multi-country studies were done recently with men.
- 4. Research in low-income and middle-income countries has expanded dramatically over the past two decades; however, there are still large geographical gaps, particularly in the Middle East and Central Asia.
- 5. We require more studies that look specifically at violence in fragile states.

#### Risk factors and causes of violence

- There is now a substantial database on factors associated with different types of violence against women and children, but it is still unclear which factors are merely 'markers' for other variables of importance and which may be causally related to violence. There is a great need for more longitudinal studies that can help establish the sequencing of variables and help tease out cause from effect.
- 2. The current evidence base is highly skewed toward individual level predictors of abuse. The next generation of studies should focus on establishing factors at the level of the relationship and the community that either heighten or reduce risk of victimization and perpetration.
- 3. Especially missing are studies that help to establish what macro-level factors influence the geographic distribution of different types of violence and how global, economic and political processes feed into and affect the dynamic of VAWG. Long-term qualitative and ethnographic studies would be useful in this regard.
- 4. The field would benefit from a greater understanding of how risk factors vary by age group. For example, are men and boys

What Works to Prevent Violence | 2015

who begin perpetrating violence against women and girls early in life different from those who start later? Do we need to target specific drivers of violence among youth who are particularly at-risk of perpetrating violence?

- 5. We need more work to be done to understand how factors at different levels of the social ecology interact to potentiate risk and/or protection. It is important to realise that the particular constellation of factors that combine to lead a particular man or woman to be violent may differ for different individuals. This is true for all forms of VAWG.
- 6. We must explore the extent of overlap between pathways to perpetration of different types of violence. For example, to what extent is the pathway to perpetration of forced sex in marriage the same or different to that which leads men to rape non-partners? Does the prevention of intimate partner rape versus non-partner rape require different interventions?
- 7. We need more information on what helps buffer and protect individuals from risk. For example, what promotes resilience among children who have experienced abuse? Why do some children go on to victimise others, whereas others form healthy relationships.
- 8. Given the overlap between different types of violence, researchers and practitioners must resist working in siloes and seek to cross-fertilize insight across different settings and types of abuse. To expand our understanding of the issue, we should be drawing upon multiple disciplines.
- 9. It is well established that adverse childhood experiences increase the risk of both women's experiences and the perpetration

- of VAWG. However, we need to better understand how the experience of child abuse relates to other adverse childhood environments. Is witnessing partner violence (for example) a risk factor for later abuse, independent of other childhood adversities? Or is it a marker for overall family dysfunction?
- 10. More evidence is needed on the impact of mental health, PTSD, and antisocial behaviour on the perpetration of and experiences of violence.
- an important area for further work. There has been limited research into the role that environment X gene interaction (epigenetics) plays in the aetiology of different types of abuse. There is emerging evidence of the role that genetics may play in rape perpetration; and there is widespread recognition of the heritable nature of antisocial behaviour, including delinquency and psychopathy. Given that these are risk factors for violence perpetration, it can be concluded that part of the causal pathway in perpetration for some men is genetic in origin

### Conclusions and recommendations

There is a considerable need for more research to deepen our understanding of VAWG in various settings. However, there is currently a strong-enough body of knowledge to inform the development and testing of prevention interventions in low-income and middle-income countries. Any lack of current evidence in no way suggests we should not act now.

### Implications for programme and policy design and evaluation

Based on the findings of this review, it is proposed that the following areas are prioritized:

- Broaden the base of knowledge: There
  is a need for research on VAWG, particularly
  sexual violence and men's perpetration
  of violence, from a much wider range of
  countries, particularly low- and middleincome countries, the Middle East and
  Central Asia.
- Deepen our understanding of causality, pathways and interplay between risk factors: There is a need for longitudinal research to understand the timing of all risk factors and the determination of cause and effect. Structural equation modelling of existing data could be used to better understand the pathways between various risk factors and violence outcomes. In particular, more research is needed on the interaction of different risk factors operating across and within levels of the socio-ecology.

- Research men's perpetration of VAWG:
   We need to better understand if there are
   differences between men who perpetrate
   different types of violence. We need to look
   at different pathways to perpetration and
   also explore whether there are different
   pathways or sets of risk factors for different
   age groups.
- Deepen our understanding of patterns of susceptibility: Research is needed to understand why some men and/or women who have particular risk factors become perpetrators or victims while others do not.
- Investigate macro-level factors that drive abuse and how global, economic and political processes affect the dynamics of VAWG: We need to know more about what is driving VAW at a population level and how that interacts with individual level risk. This could include ecological and multi-level studies, as well as long-term qualitative and ethnographic research.
- Further explore the role of epigenetics: We need to know more about the biological drivers of different types of VAWG and their interaction with the environment/ epigenetics.
- · Pursue multi-disciplinary research:

New generations of research are needed, which combine perspectives from multiple disciplines, including: developmental psychology, gender studies, epidemiology, economics, psychopathology, genetics and neuro-imaging.

### References

Abbey, A. et al. 2001. Alcohol and sexual assault. Alcohol Research and Health, 25, 43–51.

Abbey, A. et al. 2006. Cross sectional predictors of sexual assault perpetration in a community sample of single African American and Caucasian men. Aggressive Behavior, 32, 54–67.

Abbey, A., Jacques-Tiura, A., Lebreton, J. 2011. Risk factors for sexual aggression in young men: an expansion of the Confluence Model. Aggressive Behavior, 37(5), 450–464.

Abrahams, N., Jewkes, R. 2005. African men's having witenessed abuse of their mothers during childhood on their levels of violence in adulthood. American Journal of Public Health, 95(10), 1–6.

Ackerson, L., Subramanian, S. 2008. State Gender Inequality, Socioeconomic Status and Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) in India: A Multilevel Analysis. Australian Journal of Social Issues, 43(1), 81–102.

Ahmed, S., Koenig, M., Stephenson, R. 2006. Efffects of domestic violence on perinatal and early-childhood mortality: evidence from North India. American Journal of Public Health, 96, 1423–1428.

Aizer, A. 2010. The Gender Wage Gap and Domestic Violence. American Economic Review, 100, 1847–1859.

Akmatov, M.K. 2011. Child abuse in 28 developing and transitional countries - results from the Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys. International journal of epidemiology, 40(1), 219–27. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20943933.

Amaro, H. et al. 2001. Racial/ethnic disparities in the HIV and substance abuse epidemics: communities responding to the need. Public Health Rep, 116(5), 434–448. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieveanddb=PubMedanddopt=Citationandlist\_uids=12042608.

Anda, R., et al. 2006. The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood. European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience, 256(3), 174-186.

Archer, J. 2000. Sex differences in aggression between heterosexual partners: A meta-analytic review. Psychological Bulletin, 126(5), 651–680. Accessed: http://doi.apa.org/getdoi.cfm²doi=10.1037/0033-2909.126.5.651

Archer, J. 2006. Cross Cultural Differences in Physical Aggression between Partners: A Social-Role Analysis. Personality and Social Psychology Review, 10, 133.

Asling-Monemi, K. et al. 2003. Violence against women increases the risk of infant and child mortality: a case-referent study in Nicaragua. Bull World Health Organ, 81(1), 10–16.

Atkinson, M., Greenstein, T., Lang, M. 2005. For Women, Breadwinning Can Be Dangerous: Gendered Resource Theory and Wife Abuse. Journal of Marriage and Family, 67(5), 1137–1148. Accessed: http://www.blackwell-synergy.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2005.00206.x.

Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2012. Australia Personal Safety Study. Canberra: ABS.

Bair-Merritt, M., Blackstone, M., Feudtner, C. 2006. Physical Health Outcomes of Childhood Exposure to Intimate Partner Violence: A Systematic Review. Pediatrics, 117(2), 278–290. Accessed: http://pediatrics.aappublications. org/cgi/content/abstract/117/2/e278.

Bandura, A. 1978. Social Learning Theory of Aggression. Journal of Communication, 28(3), 12–29.

Barker, G., Urbina, C. 2011. Evolving Men: Initial results from the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Washington: IMAGES.

Beasley, C. 2008. Rethinking Hegemonic Masculinity in a Globalizing World. Men and Masculinities, 11(1), 86–103. Accessed: http://jmm.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/1097184X08315102.

Black, M., et al. 2011. The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2010 Summary Report. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Borowsky, I., Hogan, M., Ireland, M. 1997. Adolescent Sexual Aggression: Risk and Protective Factors. Pediatrics, 100(6), e7. Accessed: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/cgi/doi/10.1542/peds.100.6.e7.

Bott, S., Morrison, A., Ellsberg, M. 2005. Preventing and responding to gender-based violence in middle and low-income countries: a global review and analysis. Washington: World Bank.

Boyle, M., et al. 2009. Community influences on intimate partner violence in India: Women's education, attitudes towards mistreatment and standards of living. Social Science and Medicine, 69(5), 691–697. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6VBF-4WT-07MJ-2/2/5055682c8a67d15a6a045ba7ef3e-faf7.

Brown, D. 2009. Exposure to physical and sexual violence and adverse health behaviours in African children: results from the Global School-based Student Health Survey. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 87(6), 447–455. Accessed: http://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/87/6/07-047423.pdf.

Butchart, A., Harvey, A. 2006. Preventing Child Maltreatment: A guide to taking action and generating evidence, Geneva: WHO.

Campbell, J. 2002. Health consequences of intimate partner violence. The Lancet, 359, 1331–1336. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140673602083368.

Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics. 2013. Family violence in Canada: A statistical profile, 2011. Ottawa: Centre for Justice Statistics.

Capaldi, D., Chamberlain, P., Patterson, G. 1997. Ineffective discipline and conduct problems in males: Association, late adolescent outcomes, and prevention. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 2(4) 343–353. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6VH7-3SX25YV-R/2/13bced4519e06a9b-0b19088262a315be.

Capaldi, D., Clark, S. 1998. Prospective Family Predictors of Aggression Toward Female Partners for At-Risk Young Men. Developmental Psychology, 34(6), 1175–1188. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ B6WYC-46NXKDG-N/2/4f94c33fec7e31e0d-2adfc8fbea75cc7.

Casey, E., Beadnell, B., Lindhorst, T. 2009. Predictors of sexually coercive behavior in a nationally representative sample of adolescent males. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 24(7), 1129–1147.

Chartier, M., Walker, J., Naimark, B. 2010. Separate and cumulative effects of adverse childhood experiences in predicting adult health and health care utilization. Child abuse and neglect, 34(6), 454–64. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20409586.

Cheng-Fang, Y., Mei-Sang, Y. 2008. Childhood physical and sexual abuse: Prevalence and correlates among adolescents living in rural Taiwan. Child Abuse and Neglect, 32(3).

Collishaw, S., et al. 2007. Resilience to adult psychopathology following childhood maltreatment: evidence from a community sample. Child abuse and neglect, 31(3), 211–29. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0145213407000415.

Connell, R. 1987. Gender and power: Society, the person and sexual politics. California: University of California Press.

Connell, R. 2005. Masculinities. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Connell, R., Messerschmidt, J. 2005. Hegemonic Masculinity: Rethinking the Concept. Gender and Society, 19(6), 829–859. Accessed: http://gas.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/0891243205278639.

Contreras J. 2005. Conflict within intimacy: a socio-demographic analysis of male involvement in physical intimate partner violence in Mexico. London: London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine.

Cools, S., Kotsadam, A. 2014. Resources and domestic violence in Sub-Saharan Africa. Oslo.

Cunradi, C.B, et al. 2000. Neighborhood poverty as a predictor of intimate partner violence among white, black, and Hispanic couples in the United States: A multi-level analysis. Annals of Epidemiology, 10, 297–308.

Dalal, K., Fazlur, R., Jansson, B. 2009. Wife abuse in rural Bangladesh. Journal of Biosocial Science, 41(5), 561-573.

Day, T., Mckenna, K., Bowlus, A. 2005. The economic costs of violence against women: an evaluation of the literature. Expert brief compiled in preparation for the Secretary-General's in-depth study on all forms of violence against women. New York: United Nations.

Decker, M., et al. 2009. Indian Men's Use of Commercial Sex Workers: Prevalence, Condom Use, and Related Gender Attitudes. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieveanddb=PubMedanddopt=Citationandlist\_uids=19904213.

Desjardins, N., Hotton, T. 2004. Trends in drug offences and the role of alcohol and drugs in crime, 24 (1). Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics

Devries, K., et al. 2013. Global health. The global prevalence of intimate partner violence against women. Science, 340(6140), 1527–8. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23788730.

Dong, M., et al. 2004. The interrelatedness of multiple forms of childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction. Child abuse and neglect, 28(7), 771–84. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15261471.

Dunkle, K., et al. 2006. Perpetration of partner violence and HIV risk behaviour among young men in the rural Eastern Cape, South Africa. AIDS, 20(16), 2107–2114. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieveanddb=PubMedanddopt=Citationandlist\_uids=17053357.

Dunkle, K., et al. 2007. Transactional sex and economic exchange with partners among young South African men in the rural Eastern Cape: prevalence, predictors, and associations with gender-based violence. Social Science and Medicine, 65(6), 1235–1248.

Dutton, M., Greene, R. 2010. Resilience and crime victimization. Journal of traumatic stress, 23(2), 215-222.

Ehrensaft, M., et al. 2003. Intergenerational transmission of partner violence: A 20-year prospective study. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 71(4), 741–753.

Ellsberg, M., et al. 1999. Wife abuse among women of childbearing age in Nicaragua. American Journal of Public Health, 89(2), 241–4.

Ellsberg, M. 2001. Researching violence against women: methodological and ethical considerations. Studies in Family Planning, 32, 1-16.

Ellsberg, M. et al. 2008. Intimate partner violence and women's physical and mental health in the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence: an observational study. Lancet, 371 (9619), 1165–72. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S014067360860522X.

Flake, D. 2005. Individual, family, and community risk markers for domestic violence in Peru. Violence against women, 11(3), 353–73. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16043554.

Foran, H., O'Leary, K. 2008. Alcohol and intimate partner violence: A meta-analytic review. Clinical psychology review, 28 (7), 1222-1234.

Fournier, M., et al. 1999. Estudio multcéntrico sobre actitudes y normas culturales frente a

la violencia (proyecto ACTIVA): Metodología. Pan American Journal of Public Health, 5(4), 222–231.

Frye, V., et al. 2006. The distribution of and factors associated with intimate terrorism and situational couple violence among a population-based sample of urban women in the United States. Journal of interpersonal violence, 21(10), 1286–313. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16940397.

Fulu, E., et al. 2013. Prevalence of and factors associated with male perpetration of intimate partner violence: findings from the UN Multi-country Cross-sectional Study on Men and Violence in Asia and the Pacific. The Lancet Global Health, 1(4), e187–e207. Accessed: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2214109X13700743 [Accessed April 13, 2014].

Fulu, E., et al. 2013. Why do some men use violence against women and how can we prevent it? Quantitative findings from the UN Multi-country Study on Men and Violence in Asia and the Pacific, Bangkok: UNDP, UNFPA, UN Women and UNV.

Fulu, E., Miedema, S. 2015. Violence against women: Globalizing the integrated ecological model. Violence against women. DOI: 1077801215596244.

Fulu, E., Miedema, S., Jewkes, R., & Roselli, T. (Forthcoming). Connections between violence against children and violence against women: Findings from the cross-sectional UN Multi-country Study on Men and Violence in Asia and the Pacific. Social Science and Medicine

Gage, A., 2005. Women's experience of intimate partner violence in Haiti. Soc Sci Med, 61(2), 343–364. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieveanddb=PubMedanddopt=Citationandlist\_uids=15893051.

Gage, A., Hutchinson, P. 2006. Power, control, and intimate partner sexual violence in Haiti. Arch Sex Behav, 35(1), 11–24.

Garcia-Moreno, C., et al. 2005. WHO Multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence against women: Initial results on prevalence, health outcomes and women's responses. Geneva: WHO.

Garcia-Moreno, C. et al. 2006. Prevalence of intimate partner violence: findings from the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence. Lancet, 368(9543), 1260–9. Accessed: http://www.thelancet.com/journals/a/article/PIIS0140-6736(06)69523-8/fulltext.

Gilbert, R., et al. 2009. Burden and consequences of child maltreatment in high-income countries. Lancet, 373(9657), 68–81. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19056114.

Gil-Gonzalez, D., et al. 2006. Alcohol and intimate partner violence: do we have enough information to act?. The European Journal of Public Health, 16(3), 278-284.

Go, V., et al. 2003. Crossing the threshold: engendered definitions of socially acceptable domestic violence in Chennai, India. Culture Health and Sexuality, 5(5), 393–408.

Graham-Kevan, N., Archer, J. 2008. Does controlling behavior predict physical aggression and violence to partners? Journal of Family Violence. Accessed: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10896-008-9162-y.

Graham, K., Bernards, S., Wilsnack, S. & Gmel, G. 2010. Alcohol may not cause partner violence but it seems to make it worse: a cross national comparison of the relationship between alcohol and severity of partner violence. Journal of interpersonal violence.

Graham, K., Livingston, M. 2011. The relationship between alcohol and violence: Population, contextual and individual research approaches. Drug and Alcohol review, 453-457.

Guoping, H. et al. 2010. Relationship between recent life events, social support, and attitudes to domestic violence: predictive roles in behaviors. Journal of interpersonal violence, 25(5), 863–76.

Hamby, S., et al. 2010. The overlap of witnessing partner violence with child maltreatment and other victimizations in a nationally representative survey of youth. Child abuse and neglect, 34(10), 734–41.

Hasselmann, M., Reichenheim, M. 2006. Parental violence and the occurrence of severe and acute malnutrition in childhood. Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology, 20(4), 299–311.

Hayati, E., et al. 2011. Behind the silence of harmony: risk factors for physical and sexual violence among women in rural Indonesia. BMC women's health, 11(1), 52. Accessed: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3257195andtool=pmcentrezandrendertype=abstract.

Heise, L. 1998. Violence against women: An integrated, ecological framework. Violence Against Women, 4(3), 262–290.

Heise, L. 2012. Determinants of partner violence in low and middle-income countries: Exploring variation in individual and population-level risk. London: London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine.

Heise, L. 2012. What works to prevent partner violence? An evidence overview. London: DFID. Accessed: http://strive.lshtm.ac.uk/resources/what-works-prevent-partner-violence-evidence-overview.

Heise L., Kotsadam A. 2015. Cross-national and multi-level correlates of partner violence: an analysis of data from population based surveys. Lancet Global Health, 3, 332-340.

Hemphill, S., Toumbourou, J., Catalano, R. 2005. Predictors of violence, antisocial behavior and relational aggression in Australian adolescents: A longitudinal study. Victoria: Criminology Research Council.

Herrenkohl, T., et al. 2008. Intersection of child abuse and children's exposure to domestic violence. Trauma, violence and abuse, 9, 84–99.

Hindin, M., Kishor, S., Ansara, D. 2008. Intimate partner violence among couples in 10 DHS countries: predictors and health outcomes. USAID.

Hoaken, P., Jean-Marc, A., Pihl, R. 1998. Cognitive functioning and the inhibition of alcohol-induced aggression. Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 59(5), 599-607.

Hollander, J., 2014. Does self-defense training prevent sexual violence against women? Violence against women, 20(3), 252–69. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24626766.

Holt, S., Buckley, H., Whelan, S. 2008. The impact of exposure to domestic violence on children and young people: A review of the literature. Child Abuse and Neglect, 32(8), 797–810.

Hunter, W., et al. 2000. Risk factors for severe child discipline practices in rural India. Journal of pediatric psychology, 25(6), 435–47.

Ireland, T., Smith, C. 2009. Living in partner-violent families: developmental links to antisocial behavior and relationship violence. Journal of youth and adolescence, 38(3), 323–39. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19636748.

Jeejebhoy, S., Santhya, K., Sabarwal, S. 2013. Gender-based violence: A qualitative exploration of norms, experiences and positive deviance. New Dehli.

Jewkes, R. 2002. Preventing sexual violence: a rights-based approach. Lancet, 360(9339), 1092

Jewkes, R. 2012. Rape Perpetration: A Review. Pretoria, South Africa: Medical Research Council and Sexual Violence Research Initiative

Jewkes, R., et al. 1999. He must give me money, he mustn't beat me: Violence against women in three South African provinces, Pretoria, South Africa: Medical Research Council.

Jewkes, R., et al. 2006. Rape perpetration by young, rural South African men: Prevalence, patterns and risk factors. Social science and medicine (1982), 63(11), 2949–61. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953606003832.

Jewkes, R., et al. 2002. Risk factors for domestic violence: Findings from a South African cross-sectional study. Social Science and Medicine, 55(9), 1603.–17. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6VBF-46SW158-C/2/c09ce485c-033125842cd854557aca659

Jewkes, S., Garcia-Moreno, C. 2002. Sexual Violence. In: Etienne G., et al. eds. World report on violence and health, edited by. Geneva: World Health Organization.

Jewkes, R., et al. 2009. Medico-legal findings, legal case progression, and outcomes in South African rape cases: retrospective review. PLoS medicine, 6(10), p.e1000164.

Jewkes, R., et al., Sikweyiya, Y., Morrell, R., & Dunkle, K. 2011. Gender inequitable masculinity and sexual entitlement in rape perpetration South Africa: findings of a cross-sectional study. PloS One, 6(12).

Jewkes, R., et al. 2010. Associations between childhood adversity and depression, substance abuse and HIV and HSV2 incident infections in rural South African youth. Child abuse and neglect, 34(11), 833–41. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0145213410002255.

Jewkes, R., Fulu, E., Garcia-Moreno, C., & Roselli, R. 2013. Prevalence and risk factors for male perpetration of rape: findings from the UN Multi-country Cross-sectional Study on Men and Violence in Asia and the Pacific. Lancet Global Health.

Jewkes, R., Morrell, R. 2012. Sexuality and the limits of agency among South African teenage women: theorising femininities and their connections to HIV risk practices. Social science and medicine (1982), 74(11), 1729–37. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953611002978.

Jewkes, R. et al. 2012. Prospective study of rape perpetration by young South African men: incidence and risk factors. PloS one, 7(5), p.e38210. Accessed: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3365003andtool=p-mcentrezandrendertype=abstract.

Jeyaseelan, L., et al. 2007. Physical spousal violence against women in India: some risk factors. Journal of biosocial science, 39(5), 657-670.

Johnson, M. 2005. The Differential Effects of Intimate Terrorism and Situational Couple Violence: Findings From the National Violence Against Women Survey. Journal of Family Issues, 26(3), 322–349. Accessed: http://jfi.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/0192513X04270345.

Kalichman, S., et al. 2009. Integrated gender-based violence and HIV Risk reduction intervention for South African men: results of a quasi-experimental field trial. Prevention Science, 10(3), 260–269. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieveanddb=PubMedanddopt=Citationandlist\_uids=19353267.

Karamagi, C., et al. 2007. Intimate partner violence and infant morbidity: evidence of an association from a population-based study in eastern Uganda in 2003. BMC Pediatrics, 7(1), 34. Accessed: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2431/7/34.

Kelly, J., Johnson, M. 2008. Differentiation Among Types of Intimate Partner Violence: Research Update and Implications for Interventions. Family Court Review, 46(3), 476–499. Accessed: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1744-1617.2008.00215.x.

Kelly, L., Lovett, J. & Regan, L. 2005. A gap or a chasm? Attrition in reported rape cases. London: Home Office Research, Development and Statistics Directorate.

Kessler, R., et al. 2010. Childhood adversities and adult psychopathology in the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. The British journal of psychiatry: the journal of mental science, 197(5), 378–85. Accessed: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2966503andtool=pmcentrezandrendertype=abstract.

Khawaja, M., Linos, N. and El-Roueiheb, Z. 2008. Attitudes of men and women towards wife beating: Findings from Palestinian refugee camps in Jordan. Journal of Family Violence, 23(3), 211–218.

Kilpatrick, D., et al. 1997. A two-year longitudinal analysis of the relationships between violent assault and substance use in women. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 65(5), 834–847.

Kinniburgh, K., Blaudstein, M. and Spinazzola, J. 2005. Attachment, self-regulation and competency. Psychiatric Annals, 35, 424–430.

Kishor, S., Johnson, K. 2005. Women at the nexus of poverty and violence: How unique is their disadvantage. Calverton: ORC Macro. Kitzmann, K., et al. 2003. Child witnesses to domestic violence: A meta-analytic review. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 71(2), 339–352. Accessed: http://doi.apa.org/getdoi.cfm?doi=10.1037/0022-006X.71.2.339.

Klostermann, K., Fals-Stewart, W. 2006. Intimate partner violence and alcohol use: Exploring the role of drinking in partner violence and its implications for intervention. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 11(6), 587-597.

Knight, R., Sims-Knight, J. 2003. The developmental antecedents of sexual coercion against women: testing alternative hypotheses with structural equation modelling. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 989, 72–85.

Koss, M., Gidycz, C., Wisniewski, N. 1987. The scope of rape: Incidence and prevalence of sexual aggression and victimization in a national sample of higher education students. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 55, 162–170.

Krug, E., et al. 2002. World Report on Violence and Health. Geneva: World Health Organization.

Krishnan, S. et al. 2010. Do changes in spousal employment status lead to domestic violence? Insights from a prospective study in Bangalore, India. Social science and medicine (1982), 70(1), 136–43.

Lackie, L., De Man, A. 1997. Correlates of sexual aggression among male university students. Sex Roles, 37, 451–457.

Macmillan, R., Gartner, R. 1999. When she brings home the bacon: Labor-force participation and the risk of spousal violence against women. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 61(4), 947–958.

Magdol, L., et al. 1998. Developmental Antecedents of Partner Abuse: A Prospective-Longitudinal Study. Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 107(3), 375–389.

Malamuth, N., et al. 1991. Characteristics of aggressors against women: testing a model using a national sample of college students. Journal of Counselling and Clinical Psychology, 59, 670–681.

Malamuth, N., et al. 1995. Using the confluence model of sexual agression to predict men's conflict with women: a 10-year follow-up study. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 69(2), 353–369. Accessed: http://cat.inist.fr/?aModele=afficheNandcpsidt=3628854.

Malamuth, N. 2003. Criminal and non-criminal sexual agressors. Integrating psychopathy in a hierarchical-mediational confluence model. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 989, 33–58.

Maniglio, R. 2009. The impact of child sexual abuse on health: a systematic review of reviews. Clinical psychology review, 29(7), 647–57. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19733950.

Maniglio, R. 2010. The role of deviant sexual fantasy in the etiopathogenesis of sexual homicide: A systematic review. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 15(4), 294–302. Accessed: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1359178910000170.

Martín, A., et al. 2005. The involvement in sexual coercive behaviors of Spanish college men: prevalence and risk factors. Journal of interpersonal violence, 20(7), 872–91. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15914707.

Martin, S., et al. 2002. Domestic violence across generations: Findings from northern India. International Journal of Epidemiology, 31(3), 560–72.

Mathews, S., et al. 2009. Alcohol use and its role in female homicides in the Western Cape, South Africa. Journal Studies Alcohol Drugs, 70(3), 321–327. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieveanddb=PubMedanddopt=Citationandlist\_uids=19371482.

McDonald, M. ed. 1994. Gender, drink and drugs. Oxford: Berg Publishers.

Moffitt, T., Caspi, A. 2003. Preventing the intergenerational continuity of antisocial behavior: Implications for partner violence D.P. Farrington and J.W. Coid, eds. Early prevention of adult anti-social behaviour, 109–129.

Morris, R., Anderson, M. & Knox, G. 2002. Incarcerated adolescents' experiences as perpetrators of sexual assault. Archives of pediatrics and adolescent medicine, 156, 831–835.

Mossige, S., Ainsaar, M. & Svedin, G. 2007. The Baltic Sea Regional Study on Adolescents' Sexuality. Oslo: Norwegian Social Research.

Neigh, G., Gillespie, C., & Nemeroff, C. 2009. The Neurobiological toll of child abuse and neglect. Trauma, Violence and Abuse, 10(4), 389–410.

Pawlak, P., Barker, G. 2012. Hidden Violence: Preventing and responding to sexual exploitation and sexual abuse of adolescent boys. Case Studies and Directions for Action. MenEngage Briefing paper. Washington: MenEngage. Pears, K., Capaldi, D. 2001. Intergenerational transmission of abuse: a two-generational prospective study of an at-risk sample. Child Abuse and Neglect, 25(11), 1439–1461. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V7N-44C864G-4/2/e0fb869f-b490aec2006e390f88d23b3a.

Perry, B. 2005. Violence and childhood: How persisting fear can alter the developing brain. Houston: The ChildTrauma Academy, Baylor College of Medicine.

Quigley, B., Kenneth E. 2006. Alcohol expectancies and intoxicated aggression. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 11(5) 484-496.

Rani, M., Bonu, S. 2009. Attitudes toward wife beating: a cross-country study in Asia. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 24(8), 1371–1397.

Renner, L., Slack, K. 2006. Intimate partner violence and child maltreatment: Understanding intra- and intergenerational connections. Child Abuse and Neglect, 30, 599-617.

Rutter, M. 2006. Implications of resilience concepts for scientific understanding. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1094, 1–12. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17347337.

Rutter, M. 2012. Resilience as a dynamic concept. Development and psychopathology, 24(2), 335–44. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22559117.

Sarnquist, C., et al. 2014. Rape Prevention through Empowerment of Adolescent Girls. Pediatrics, 133(5), e1226–e1232. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24733880.

Seto, M., Barbaree, H. 1995. The role of alcohol in sexual aggression. Clinical Psychology Review, 15(6), 545–566. Accessed: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/027273589500033L.

Seto, M., Lalumière, M., Maniglio, R. 2010. The role of deviant sexual fantasy in the etiopathogenesis of sexual homicide: A systematic review. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 136(4), 294–302. Accessed: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1359178910000170.

Shannon, K., et al. 2012. Gender inequity norms are associated with increased male-perpetrated rape and sexual risks for HIV infection in Botswana and Swaziland. PLoS One, 7(1), p.e28739.

Schuler, S., Lenzi, R., Yount, K. 2011. Justification of intimate partner violence in rural Bangladesh: what survey questions fail to capture. Studies in family planning, 42(1), 21-28.

Sikweyiya, Y., Jewkes, R. 2009. Force and temptation: contrasting South African men's accounts of coercion into sex by men and women. Cult Health Sex, 11(5), 529–541. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieveanddb=PubMedanddopt=Citationandlist\_uids=19499390.

Silberschmidt, M., Rasch, V. 2001. Adolescent girls, illegal abortions and "sugar-daddies" in Dar es Salaam: vulnerable victims and active social agents. Soc Sci Med, 52(12), 1815–1826. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieveanddb=PubMedanddopt=Citationandlist\_uids=11352408.

Silverman, J., et al. 2004. The CARE Communities project: an academic, practitioner, and federal public health agency collaboration to improve intimate partner violence services for underserved communities. Public Health Rep, 119(6), 590–593. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieveanddb=PubMedanddopt=Citationandlist\_uids=15504452.

Solotaroff, J., Pande, R. 2014. Violence against women and girls: lessons from south Asia. Washington: World Bank Publications.

Steffensmeier, D., et al. 2006. Gender Gap Trends for Violent Crimes, 1980 to 2003: A UCR-NCVS Comparison. Feminist Criminology, 1(1), 72–98. Accessed: http://fcx.sagepub.com/cgi/ doi/10.1177/1557085105283953.

Stoltenborgh, M., et al. 2011. A global perspective on child sexual abuse: meta-analysis of prevalence around the world. Child maltreatment, 16(2), 79–101. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21511741.

Swartout, K., White, J. 2010. The relationship between drug use and sexual agression in men across time. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 25, 1715–1735.

Swinford, S., DeMaris, A. 2000. Harsh physical discipline in childhood and violence in later romantic involvements: The mediating role of problem behaviors. Journal of Marriage, 62, 508–519. Accessed: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.00508.x/full.

Tark, J., Kleck, G. 2014. Resisting rape: the effects of victim self-protection on rape completion and injury. Violence against women, 20(3), 270–92. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24686123.

Team, N., Jenkins, C. National study of sexual and reproductive knowledge and behaviour in Papua New Guinea.

Testa, M., Livingston, J., Leonard, K. 2003. Women's substance use and experiences of intimate partner violence: A longitudinal investigation among a community sample. Addictive behaviors, 28(9), 1649-1664.

Thompson, M., Kingree, J. 2006. The roles of victim and perpetrator alcohol use in intimate partner violence outcomes. Journal of interpersonal violence, 21(2), 163-177.

43

True, J. 2012. The political economy of violence against women. Cambridge: Oxford University Press.

UNICEF Innocenti Research Centre. 2010. The dynamics of social change towards the abandonment of female genital mutilation/cutting in five african countries. Florence: UNICEF.

Urbina, J. 2005. Conflict within intimacy: a socio-demographic analysis of male involvement in physical intimate partner violence in Mexico. London: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine

Uthman, O., Lawoko, S., Moradi, T. 2010. Sex disparities in attitudes towards intimate partner violence against women in sub-Saharan Africa: a socio-ecological analysis. BMC Public Health. 10.

Vanderende, K., et al. 2012. Community-level correlates of intimate partner violence against women globally: a systematic review. Social science and medicine (1982), 75(7), 1143–55. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22762950.

Van Wijk, A., et al. 2006. Juvenile sex offenders compared to non-sex offenders: a review of the literature 1995-2005. Trauma, violence and abuse, 7(4), 227–43. Accessed: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17065545.
Vung, N., Ostergren, P., Krantz, G. 2008. Intimate partner violence against women in rural Vietnam - different sociodemographic factors are associated with different forms of violence: Need for new intervention guidelines? BMC Public Health, 8(55).

Walby, S., Allen, J. 2004. Domestic violence, sexual assault and stalking: Findings from the British Crime Survey D. and S.D. Home Office Research, ed. Home Office Research, Development and Statistics Directorate. London: Home Office.

Watson, D., Parsons, S. 2005. Domestic abuse of women and men in Ireland: Report on the national study of domestic abuse. N.C. Council, ed., Dublin: Stationary Office. Accessed: www. crimecouncil.ie.

White, J., Smith, P. 2004. Sexual assualt perpetration and reperpetration: From adolescence to young adulthood. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 31, 182–202.

Whitfield, C., et al. 2003. Violent childhood experiences and the risk of intimate partner violence in adults: Assessment in a large health maintenance organization. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 18(2), 166–185. Accessed: http://jiv.sagepub.com/cgi/content/abstract/18/2/166

Wilkinson, D., Bearup, L., Soprach, T. 2005. Youth gang rape in Phnom Penh. In S.J. Jejeebhoy, I. Shah, and S. Thapa, eds. Sex without consent: Young people in developing countries. New York: Zed Books.

Wood, K. 2005. Contextualizing group rape in post-apartheid South Africa. Culture, health and sexuality, 7(4), 303–317.

World Health Organization. 2002. World report on violence and health. Geneva: WHO.

World Health Organization, London School of Hygeine and Tropical Medicine. 2010. Preventing intimate partner and sexual violence against women. Geneva: WHO.

World Health Organization. 2013. Global and regional estimates of violence against women: prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner sexual violence. Geneva: WHO.

